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Note on integrated reporting

This year marks the fourth year that Chrometco will present an integrated annual report, in terms of its social, environmental, economic 
and financial impact. This is one of the recommendations of the revised King Code and Report on Governance for South Africa 
(“King III”) which was published in 2010. Chrometco has worked towards ensuring compliance with King III’s many guidelines and 
recommendations. This Integrated Annual Report provides a detailed overview of Chrometco’s operations and financial performance 
for the year ended 28 February 2015. The report also describes the group’s mineral prospects and other development activities. 
This integrated annual report comprises reporting that examines our operational, sustainability and financial performance together. 
The aim of our integrated approach is to enable investors and other stakeholders, including Government, local communities and 
our employees, to make a better informed assessment of the value of Chrometco – and our ability to thrive in the new growth 
environments of the future.

It should be noted that Chrometco is still a relatively small group with early stage mineral exploration and mining activities, few 
employees and a small number of public stakeholders. Accordingly, the size and nature of the group’s operations limits the 
extent to which the company has a significant impact on the social and natural environment in which it operates. To the extent 
possible, Chrometco remains committed to ensuring that it operates in a socially responsible manner and remains an upstanding  
corporate citizen. 

Section 1 of the report addresses the strategy, vision, prospects and an overview of the operational performance of the group.  

Section 2 focuses on accountability, compliance and transparency. 

Section 3 contains a detailed insight into the group and company’s financial performance, position and information.

We are engaged in the process of improving our reporting and in future will endeavor to include information that is relevant and 
important to a wide range of the group’s stakeholders.
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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of your board of directors, I am pleased to present the chairman’s report for the year ending 28 February 2015.

Chrometco is an exploration and mining company whose primary objective remains the acquisition of interests in mineral rights, to use 
its resources to add value to these rights and in this way offer value to its shareholders.

ACTIvITIES

The continued stagnation of chrome prices despite previous signs of improvement led the group to focus on extracting value from its 
LG6 resource which remains in demand by ferrochrome producers. To this end the group entered into an agreement with International 
Ferro metals Limited (“IFM”) in terms of which IFM sourced LG6 ore from the Rooderand mine as raw material for its plant. Owing to 
structural complexities encountered at the open cast ore body which drove up the cost of mining, IFM discontinued its operations at 
Rooderand in May 2015 pending a clearer understanding of the geological structure there and greater certainty of future open cast 
mining costs.

Until such time as the regulatory process for transferring the Nkwe platinum rights to the group has been completed the group 
is restricted in its ability to turn the platinum at Rooderand to account. Despite having complied with all outstanding regulatory 
requirements, the transfer has not taken place. The group’s rights in this regard have been investigated and legal steps are being 
followed to procure the orderly transfer of the platinum rights in terms of the original purchase agreement with Nkwe Platinum.

fINANCIAL PERfORMANCE

The financial results were negatively impacted by a lower than anticipated revenue stream in the face of the unrelenting cost of 
compliance faced by the group as well as the relatively high  intangible asset amortisation charge. At a cash flow level essential 
compliance and legal costs have resisted the best efforts of management to contain operating costs to a minimum and conserve the 
cash resources of the group. This latter continues to be prioritised into the current financial year.  

CHANGES TO THE BOARD

There were no changes to the composition of the board during the financial year. Following the end of the financial year Mr Trevor Scott 
resigned as Financial Director and Mr Michael Scott (who is no relation to either Mr Trevor Scott or the Chairman Mr Jonathan Scott) 
was appointed in his stead. On behalf of the board I wish to thank Trevor Scott for the considerable effort he has put in to dealing with 
the ever increasing regulatory burden imposed on public companies in general and mining companies in particular over the past few 
years. Throughout his tenure first as a non-executive director and later as Financial Director we have derived considerable benefit from 
his unswerving dedication to the financial well being of the group. While Trevor’s considerable financial expertise and experience will 
be missed, we have confidence that Mr Michael Scott will prove a valuable addition to the board and look forward to his contribution 
in the challenging times we face going forward.

OUTLOOk

Despite some signs of improvement in the chrome market towards the end of the previous reporting period, the price of chrome 
ore has remained stagnant throughout the financial year. Against a global economic background of a strengthening US dollar and 
slowing growth from China, the outlook for commodities in general and metals in particular remains weak. In this environment which 
is expected to prevail for at least the remainder of the current financial year, conditions are suited to the consolidation of mining 
assets rather than to the expansion of mining activities. The chrome and platinum sectors are no exception to this reality, which 
is why Chrometco commenced with this course of action in 2013 through the acquisition of the Nkwe platinum rights. Although 
frustrated by the inordinately slow process of transferring the ownership of mineral rights under the Mineral and Petroleum Resources 
Development Act, Chrometco remains committed to continuing with this strategy and is actively pursuing several other opportunities 
along these lines.

CONCLUSION

The tight market conditions referred to in last year’s report have continued with no respite evident in the near term. Continuation 
of these conditions present increasing hurdles for mining companies to deliver value. Chrometco is further challenged by its finite 
resources and the imperative for developing a broader resource base. However with many mining enterprises in survival mode, 
your board is of the view that the prospects for laying the foundations for future value creation through mineral rights consolidation 
transactions in this environment give cause for some optimism.
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INTRODUCTION 

Chrometco is an exploration and mining company with its focus on chrome exploration and mining in the North West province of 
South Africa and a key driver of the consolidation of the associated platinum group metal (PGM) rights.  

The year under review has involved the commencement of mining LG6 Chrome ore on the Rooderand property as well as continuation 
of the consolidation of our chrome activities and expansion into PGMs. 

Our activities were focused on:
• our Rooderand LG6 chrome mining operations; and
• continuing of the acquisition of PGMs on the remainder portion of the Rooderand property.

During the period under review, Chrometco¹s share price has traded between a low of 8 and a high of 16 cents.

The group has reported a headline loss per share of 8.20 cents compared with a headline profit per share of 0.44 cents in the  
previous period. 

The group’s financial position continues to remain solid at year-end; our net asset value per share was 62.81 cents (2014: 71.02). 

fINANCIAL PERfORMANCE OvERvIEw 

The group incurred a comprehensive loss for the year of R18.0 million compared with a loss of R0.3 million in the prior period, mainly 
as a result of the reversal of deferred tax assets relating to accumulated assessed tax losses.

OPERATIONAL OvERvIEw

Chrometco entered into a 12 month mining and management, as well as a sale of ore agreements with International Ferro Metals 
Limited (“IFM”). As a result, mining of LG6 ore commenced at Rooderand in November 2014 and for the period under review 14 868 
tonnes of chrome ore was mined at grades between 31% and 32%, which earned the company R938 937 revenue. 

Mining at Rooderand proved to be very difficult due to structural faulting. In May 2015, IFM stopped ore production to focus on 
exploration and an updated mining plan. 

We foresee that ore production will remain to be intermittent to allow for periods of exploration and mine planning. The ability to remain 
flexible is also essential in order to react quickly to changes in commodity prices.  

CORPORATE ACTIvITy OvERvIEw 

In November 2012, Chrometco shareholders approved the acquisition from Nkwe Platinum Limited and Realm Resources Limited 
of the mining rights for PGMs and base metals over the ‘remainder portion’ of Rooderand for a total consideration of 90 million new 
Chrometco shares. Phase 1 of the acquisition – which saw Chrometco acquire all of the geological data on Rooderand – is complete 
which allowed Chrometco to update its Chrome Resource statement. Phase 2 – the acquisition of the PGM mining rights – is awaiting 
approval from the Department of Mineral Resources and Chrometco is of the opinion that an award of these mining rights is immininent. 

This move to expand into the PGM arena remains exciting. Chrometco plans to use co-occurrence of chrome and PGMs on 
Rooderand, and the synergies that exist between the two, to develop a much more robust and profitable mining venture. Rooderand 
has significant outcrop Merensky and UG2 ore and is in close proximity to other PGM miners. 

The prospecting rights for PGMs on portion two of Rooderand is owned by Anglo American, in conjunction with the Bakgatla 
community. This was historically owned by Platinum Australia. Chrometco hopes to facilitate a further consolidation with the new 
prospecting right holders on portion two to join the co-occurring chrome and PGMs. It is expected that the fully consolidated portion 
two and the remainder portion could have around 3m toz open pit minable PGMs, which should make it attractive to toll treatment; or 
as an acquisition target, or possibly self-development.

As the holder of the new order mining rights for chrome (including the chrome in the UG2 seam) on portion two and the remainder 
portion, Chrometco is ideally placed to lead the consolidation of the mineral mining rights on Rooderand. 

Managing director’s review
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ExPLORATION OvERvIEw 

Resulting from the IFM agreements around 2 000 metres drilling took place in approximately 40 holes, which was used to develop 
mine plans. This data is available to Chrometco, but it has not yet been included in the resource statement. 

OUTLOOk 

Market conditions for chrome have slightly improved from the very depressed levels seen in 2011 and 2012. Eskom continued to 
refrain from buying back electricity, which saw chrome smelters in the North West province which are our main target market, staying 
in operation. The weak rand support commodity prices in rand terms, although the overall longterm outlook remained soft. 

The PGM markets are well off their peaks and prices continue to slip. Until some of the unprofitable PGM operations close down the 
existing over supply will result in soft PGM prices. The situation reinforces our objective to be a low-cost, open-pit operation, in order 
to be attractive, even currently at the bottom of the commodity cycle. Historically, the PGM market has been much stronger and it is 
encouraging to see more projects in this commodity still going ahead, indicating that at least those produces believe better prices are 
to come. 

We will also continue to look at other opportunities to add value for our shareholder. 

These factors and our ongoing effort should help us to strengthen Chrometco’s position as an exciting, emerging mining group.  

P J Cilliers
Managing director

19 August 2015
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Mineral resources and reserves Statement

Chrometco Limited has commissioned Mr Dexter Ferreira of Independent Resource Estimations Proprietary Limited (“IRES”) to prepare 
the following report on the group’s mineral resources and reserves at 28 February 2015 in accordance with the SAMREC Code and 
section 12 of the JSE Listing Requirements. 

OBJECTIvE

This memorandum is pursuant to the new annual disclosure requirements for the JSE as prescribed in Section 12.11 guidelines.

Chrometco’s Rooderand tenements are located approximately 60km north northwest from Rustenburg; located in the North West 
Province, in South Africa; see Figure 1.

figure 1: Project location
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1. ExPLORATION ACTIvITIES

  As part of the International Ferro Metals (“IFM”) mining contract, which commenced in October 2014, the parties drilled  
40 boreholes for mine planning and exploration purposes. These holes have not been added to the geological model and 
more drilling is planned.

2. GEOLOGy

2.1. GEOLOGICAL SETTING

  The Merensky Reef is generally composed of a feldspathic pyroxenite, overlying a thin basal chromitite stringer, followed by 
an anorthosite to norite footwall and with mineralization decreasing from the basal chromitite stringer into the hangingwall 
and footwall. The UG2 Reef is defined as a main chromitite layer (see Figure 2), with most of the mineralization contained 
within this unit, followed by a poorly mineralized pegmatoidal pyroxenite footwall. Below the UG2 Reef are numerous other 
chromitite layers that are mined for chromium, as their PGM content is too low.

 figure 2: General stratigraphy of the western Bushveld Sequence
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Mineral resources and reserves Statement continued

  Some low outcrops of Lower Critical Zone feldspathic pyroxenites are present in the northern part of the remaining extent of 
the farm Rooderand (immediately east of Chrometco’s Rooderand 46 JQ Portion 2), where chrome mining has taken place. 
The southern part of the farm is thought to be underlain by the upper Critical and Main Zones; see Figure 3. It is believed that 
the Upper Zone underlies the southern parts of the farm Rooderand and the eastern parts of the farm Zandspruit and the 
farm Ruighoek, although continued exploration will confirm this.

 figure 3: Regional geological map
 

  Recent percussion drilling indicated that the MG4 sub-outcrops within and that the LG chromitite seams sub-outcrops north 
of the project area. The LG 5 chromitite seam consists of three chromitite layers with intercalated pyroxenite layers, both the 
LG 6 and MG4 consists of massive chrome layers with occasional thin pyroxenite lenses.
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  Reconnaissance geological mapping by Platmin discovered minor outcrops of probable LCZ feldspathic pyroxenite in the 
area of black turf in the northeast of the property (see Figure 4). Alkaline and mafic intrusives were observed along the 
western boundary of the property.

  94 diamond drillholes (total of 9 380m) were drilled on Rooderand, by Platmin, in a 100m x 100m grid in the shallow reef 
areas. A strike length of 1 600m has been drilled with additional, as yet, untested potential in the southern part of the project 
area. The maximum depth at which the UG2 has been intersected is 243m.

  Whole rock geochemical X-Ray Fluorescence Spectrometry (“XRF”) analyses of chip samples from the drilling programme, 
as well as Pt, Pd and Au assays confirm UCZ/lower main zone signatures.

  Airborne magnetic and radiometric data, obtained in 2004 to 2005, was used to interpret both structure and lithology and  
a trenching programme, comprising ten trenches (total of 613m) confirmed the suboutcrop position of the UG2 and  
Merensky Reef.  

 figure 4: Exploration geology
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Mineral resources and reserves Statement continued

2.2. GEOLOGICAL MODEL

  Polygons were constructed in ArcGIS™ using individual seam outcrops and bounding faults shown in Figure 5. The extent of 
polygons around the boundary of the Area of Interest was limited by the criteria of borehole influence, outcrops and structure 
as reported previously.

 figure 5: MG Resource block plan
 

  Polygon outlines were digitized and the resultant areal extent in m2 placed in a spreadsheet. Block names have been defined 
by three characters, which denote to which Group the seam belongs, the individual structure polygon and the individual 
seam portion. Portions denoted by a suffix “R” were used only when part of the block has been depleted by open pit mining, 
and refers to the area of the remaining resource within the structure polygon.

  Average apparent dips for each polygon have been estimated from contour intervals, which themselves are based on 
borehole intersection depths. Average on-seam area has been defined using simple trigonometry based on the seam plans.

  Seam thickness isopach maps were constructed which were aimed at determining if trends existed within DCM Chrome’s 
exploration area. It is noted that due to the small number of borehole intersections, no observable trend in individual seam 
thickness across Remainder Portion 2 and Rooderand 46JQ could be established. Contouring of this data provided no 
meaningful basis on which to determine if a trend in the data exists. The low variability of seam thickness across the property 
is also indicated through statistical analysis.
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3. MINING

3.1. HISTORy

  Small-scale open pit and underground mining of chromitite has been undertaken by TLC on the northern part (Remaining 
Extent) of the farm Rooderand, extending northwards onto the farm Witkleifontein. The strike extent of these abandoned 
workings is approximately 2km. The chromitite seams have a northeast to north-northeast strike, with dips of 10° – 30° to 
the southeast and east-southeast.

  During 2007 till 2011 DCM mined Rooderand as part of the conditional sale of Rooderand to DCM. The sale was eventually 
rejected by the Chrometco shareholders. 

  In October 2014, London-listed IFM signed an agreement with Chrometco for the start of mining at the Rooderand LG6 
open pit mine. IFM’s first phase of exploration drilling had been completed, and Phase 2 exploration drilling, completed by  
March 2015. 

  Mining started in October 2014, with beneficiation occurring at IFM’s beneficiation plant. IFM was aiming to mine up to  
200 000t of LG6 chrome ore over a 12-month period with the potential for further mining, depending on the success of 
Phase 2 exploration drilling. 

4. PRODUCTION

  Ore production is intermittent to allow for periods with period of drilling and exploration and mine planning. For the period 
under review IFM mined and transported 14 868t of LG6 ore off site bearing grades between 31% and 32%Cr. 

 The faulted nature of the ore body made mining difficult and resulted in lower than expected ore production.  

5. LEGAL

  The Company currently holds Prospecting Permits, as well as Mining Licenses for the Portion of the farm Rooderand 46JQ 
and Portion 2, totaling 1 069.1904Ha; see Table 1and Figure 6.

 Table 1: Prospecting permits

Portions Surface right holder right classification right holder License area (Ha)

Rooderand 46JQ State of the Republic of 
South Africa

Used Old Order Mining 
Right ML4/97 was 
converted in 2011 to a 
new order mining right 
M404

Pilanesberg Mining 
Company (Pty) Ltd.

534.5902

Portion 2 State of the Republic of 
South Africa

Used Old Order Mining 
Right ML5/97 was 
converted in 2011 to a 
new order mining right 
M405

Pilanesberg Mining 
Company (Pty) Ltd. 

534.6002
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Mineral resources and reserves Statement continued

 figure 6: Chrometco’s tenements
 

  The mining rights are held in Pilanesburg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd and a Section 11 application is in progress to transfer 
the rights to Rooderand. There is also a Section 102 application with the DMR, with is the last step of the Nkwe transaction, 
which will result in the PGM and other minerals being included in the existing chrome mining right.

6. MINERAL RESOURCES/MINERAL RESERvES

  In late 2008, DCM Chrome hired the Mineral Corporation to manage an exploration program which entailed the drilling of 
25 surface drillholes. The results from this program were used to define SAMREC compliant mineral resource estimates. 
These are presented for Indicated Mineral Resources (see Table 2) and for Inferred Mineral Resources (see Table 3) and only 
represent approximately 25% of the total tenement area held by Chrometco (see Figure 7). Geological losses of 20% to 30% 
have been applied on a block-by-block basis.
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 Table 2: Indicated Mineral Resources – as per Mineral corporation – SAMREC compliant

grade Cr2O3

Cr2O3 Content

Source Unit Tonnes (%) (tonnes)

Open Pit LG5, LG6, LG7, MG2, MG3, MG4 2 008 958 37.10 745 244

Underground LG6, MG4A 6 662 671 39.42 2 626 098

Total 8 671 629 39.00 3 371 342

 Table 3: Inferred Mineral Resources – as per Mineral corporation – SAMREC compliant

grade Cr2O3

Cr2O3 Content

Source Unit Tonnes (%) (tonnes)

Open Pit MG2 213 764 35.36 75 587

Total 213 764 35.36 75 587

 figure 7: DCM Exploration area
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Mineral resources and reserves Statement continued

  In 2010, Mr Bleeker was approached by the Directors of Chrometco to re-evaluate the potential resources taking cognizance 
of the work completed by the Mineral Corporation. 

  Using drillhole information from Anglo Platinum and Nkwe Platinum, depth values have been used to confirm the structural 
continuity of the individual chrome seams outside the DCM area; therefore the tonnages that have been calculated are 
considerably at a high level of confidence. These have been categorized as an Exploration Results and are not SAMREC 
compliant and are shown in Table 4.  

 Table 4: Exploration results – outside DCM area1 

Seam Tonnes (with losses)

LG6 20 477 000

LG5 16 591 459

MG4A 14 063 164

Total 51 131 623

 1. Source: n.Bleeker, 2010.

 No mineral reserves have been estimated.

7. ASSUMPTIONS

  Global chromitite deposit tonnages and grades have been estimated for the Area of Interest using seam average true widths 
(for both chromitite portion and total seam), RDs and weighted chromitite grades of each seam. Areas and volumes were 
determined from structure polygons. 

  For each seam the total volume, tonnage, grade and RD was calculated for both the main chromitite portion and for the total 
seam, which includes low grade diluting material. 

  Subdivision of the Global deposit into near surface and underground deposits has been necessary to distinguish the potential 
portion which may be amenable to open-pit extraction, from those considered to be extractable only from underground 
mining. A maximum depth below surface of 40m has been considered as demarcating the lower limit of accessible tonnage 
using open-pit extraction methods, based on generic mining examples from the Bushveld Complex. Polygons were 
constructed in ArcGIS™ from which areas, volumes and tonnages were derived. 

  Polygons defining the outlines of the open pit mineral deposits to 40mbs were digitized on ArcGIS™ using the structural 
model that was used to define the total mineral deposits within the Area of Interest. 

  In view of the requirements of the SAMREC Code (2007), which requires that due consideration be given to current and 
eventual economic extraction potential, The Mineral Corporation was of the opinion that the deposits amenable to open pit 
extraction within the Area of Interest can be considered to be classified as Mineral Resources, along with the underground 
deposits on the LG6 and MG4A seams, where the likelihood of eventual economic extraction has been considered in a 
positive light. 

  The remaining underground deposits on the LG5, LG7, MG2 and MG3 seams are considered mineral deposits since it is 
believed these seams will be unable to sustain viable standalone underground mining operations. 

 These data represent the total SAMREC Code compliant Mineral Resources for Rooderand. 
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7.1. MINING CONSIDERATIONS 

  A high level mining valuation conducted by The Mineral Corporation in 2009 concluded that under then current economic 
conditions, it was unlikely that an underground mining operation would be currently economically viable, even though 
technically such a plan could be considered. The study indicated that underground mining costs would amount to 
approximately R1 250/t mined, which, given the 2009 chromite price of R500/t rendered underground mining unprofitable. 
The study has also not taken into the account the high degree of structural complexity on Rooderand, which will increase 
underground mining costs further. 

  Current chrome price projections suggest a prolonged recovery period for the commodity, which renders more favourable 
the chances for eventual economic extraction of selected underground seams, defined under the SAMREC Code (2007) as 
a criterion for mineral resources classification. 

  With this in mind, The Mineral Corporation believes that both open pit and selected underground sources of chromitite may 
be considered under the SAMREC Code (2007) classification of Mineral Resources. 

  The mineral resources that can be considered for open-pit mining within the Area of Interest comprise the LG5, LG6, LG7, 
MG2, MG3 and MG4 seams. Intersection statistical analysis has deemed that all the seams should be classified as Indicated 
Mineral Resources with the exception of the MG2 which is regarded as an Inferred Mineral Resource. 

  Despite its low thickness, the LG7 seam can be exploited along with the LG6 until the 40mbs LG6 level is reached. The 
LG5 seam can be exploited in a separate open-pit. The MG2 and MG3 seams may also be exploited in a single open-pit 
operation until the 40mbs level on the MG2 is reached. Thereafter the MG3 seam may be mined down to the 40mbs level. 

  Mineral Resources considered from underground sources comprise the LG6 and MG4A seams only. It is considered highly 
unlikely due to the low thicknesses and/or high quantities of diluting material within the remaining seams, combined with high 
levels of mining dilution from the immediate hangingwall or footwall of the seams, that a viable underground operation could 
be supported on the LG5, LG7, MG2, MG3 or MG4B seams. 

8. COMPARISONS

  There is no material change between the current Mineral Resource/Mineral Reserve estimates with the previous financial 
year/period’s estimates.

9. INfERRED MINERAL RESOURCES

 No feasibility study has been done. Not applicable to this memorandum.

10. RISkS

  While no borehole information exists in the area south of the Area of Interest, the likelihood of chromitite seam development 
at similar grades and thicknesses to those intersected in the borehole drilling campaign is considered high. 

  The additional tonnages have been calculated from polygons constructed in ArcGIS™ using extrapolated seam outcrop 
positions to the assumed position of the Rooderand Fault. The seams considered for this exercise are the LG5, LG6, LG7, 
MG2, MG3 and MG4. A higher geological loss of 30% has been applied to this tonnage due to lower confidence in the 
geological model in this area of the property, and greater structural risk as secondary faulting associated with the Rooderand 
Fault is encountered. 

  IRES understand that the availability of a permanent sub-surface water supply has presented problems with open pit mining 
during 2008. It is understood that an application to supply municipal water has been favourably received for Platmins’ 
neighbouring Platinum development project. In order for the chromite Mineral Resources to be exploited at Rooderand, it is 
recommended that a permanent water supply such as that obtained by Platmin be obtained. 

  IRES are not aware of any access issues with the current surface rights owners that could affect the decision to  
commence mining. 
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Mineral resources and reserves Statement continued

11. STATEMENT

  There are no current, pending, or anticipated legal proceedings, or any other material conditions, that may impact on the 
company’s ability to continue mining activities.

12. fUTURE ExPLORATION

  The re-estimated mineral resources were calculated by Mr NA Bleeker in late 2010 and revised with exploration results 
obtained in April 2011. Given the continuous nature of the chrome seams, and the depth data from former PGE drilling 
campaigns, these figures are considered to be sufficient to be classified as Exploration Results.

  Given that Chrometco has acquired all the exploration data from Nkwe Platinum Ltd, the company has a solid foothold in the 
PGM space. Rooderand’s location (see Figure 8), on the Western Limb of the Bushveld Igneous Complex, with the likes of 
Platmin Limited as neighbours, makes Rooderand’s location in a prime PGM neighbourhood.

 figure 8: Adjacent PGM properties
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  Nkwe’s exploration success during 2006 increased the geologically discounted JORC compliant Mineral Resource to  
36,7m Mt at 3,8 g/t for 4,5Moz (3PGE+Au).

  Anglo Platinum currently holds the prospecting rights for PGMs on portion 2, where Chrometco has a new order mining right 
for chrome. Chrometco will be exploring ways to facilitate a further consolidation in the region, perhaps in a similar way as 
the NKWE transaction.  

13. QUALIfICATIONS, ExPERIENCE AND INDEPENDENCE

  The author and practioner of this memorandum, Mr Dexter Ferreira, is a senior geostatistician with over 25 years experience in 
project evaluation internationally, including extensive involvement with mineral projects throughout South America and Africa. 
He is a member of the South African Council for Natural Scientific Professions, and qualifies as an ‘Expert’, ‘Competent 
Person’ and ‘Qualified Person’ as defined in National Instrument 43-101 and the JORC Code. 

  The author of this brief has not or has not previously had, any material interest in Chrometco Limited or the mineral properties 
in which any of these entities has an interest. The relationship with these entities is solely one of professional association 
between client and independent consultant. This report is prepared in return for professional fees based upon agreed 
commercial rates and the payment of these fees is in no way contingent on the results of this report.

dexter S. ferreira
BSc. (Geology), BEng. (Mining), Pri.Sci.nat.

Independent Resource Estimations
430 Ashmead Drive
Ramsgate
KZN, 4285
Republic of South Africa
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CORPORATE GOvERNANCE STATEMENT

As a company listed on the JSE Alternative Exchange (ALTx), the minimum standards against which Chrometco is managed are those 
prescribed by the JSE Listings Requirements being Chapter 2 of the King Report on Governance for South Africa 2009 (King III). The 
responsibility for managing the group’s affairs rests with the board and all directors are required to maintain the highest standards 
of integrity to ensure that Chrometco’s business affairs are conducted responsibly and in the interests of both the group and its 
stakeholders. The board and individual directors accept their duty and responsibility to ensure that the principles set out in King III are 
observed over and above those minimum requirements of the JSE, and are committed to the highest level of corporate governance 
and the implementation of effective structures, policies and practices that improve corporate governance and create sustainable value 
for our shareholders and other stakeholders. 

Both the board and the individual directors support embedding best governance principles and practices throughout the group.

The board of directors continue to subscribe to the values of good corporate governance as set out in King III and are committed to 
the ongoing application of corporate governance best practices in the conduct of the group’s business. There is commitment, going 
forward, to apply the relevant voluntary provisions of King III. While the board is of the opinion that the group complies in all material 
respects with the principles embodied in King III and the additional requirements for corporate governance stipulated by the JSE, 
where specific principles have not been applied, explanations for these are contained within the integrated annual report. 

Disclosure in this integrated annual report demonstrates the group’s commitment to apply the principles of King III, as well as the actual 
compliance achieved. The board is equally committed to apply the principles of King III, where applicable, which came into effect 
on 1 March 2010. During the year under review, the board and specifically the members of the audit and compliance committees, 
performed an internally facilitated assessment of the group’s compliance with the provisions of King III and the Companies Act of 
South Africa. Areas which require further focus will be addressed during the current year and compliance with King III will be reported 
on in detail in the 2016 integrated annual report.

BOARD ACCOUNTABILITy AND AUTHORITy

The general powers of the directors of Chrometco are conferred either by the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) or by 
the Companies Act of South Africa, as amended, or in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements. The board has adopted a charter 
through which it controls and monitors the group’s business. The charter outlines the following major responsibilities:
• determining the strategic direction of the group;
• retaining full and effective control of the group and monitoring the management’s implementation of board plans and strategies;
• identification and monitoring of key risk areas to ensure the integrity of managing risk and internal control;
• appointing directors in terms of the group’s policy and procedures;
• appointing a managing director and financial director;
• establishing a framework for delegation of authority and responsibilities to the executive directors;
• managing conflicts of interest;
• cultivating an ethical corporate culture;
• maintaining succession plans at executive level; and
• any other matters that have a material impact on the group’s affairs.

While retaining overall accountability and subject to matters reserved for the board, the board has delegated authority to run the day-
to-day affairs of the group to the executive directors. 

Audit, risk, nomination and remuneration committees assist the board in discharging its duties and responsibilities. All committees 
act under their respective terms of reference, through which certain functions of the board are assigned with defined purposes, 
membership requirements, duties and reporting procedures. They are required to carry out self-evaluations at least annually. The 
board believes that the evaluation of performance should currently be performed in-house. Board committees are also required to 
be reviewed by the board. Board committees may take independent professional advice at the group’s expense, when necessary. 
Chairmen of the board committees, or their representatives, are required to attend annual general meetings to answer shareholders’ 
questions.

Corporate governance
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BOARD COMPOSITION
The names and brief résumé of the directors in office appear on page 3 of this integrated annual report.

There are integrated procedures for appointments to the board. All appointments are formal and transparent, and a matter for the 
board as a whole, assisted by the remuneration and nomination committee.

At 28 February 2015, the board had a unitary structure that comprised six members, three of whom are independent non-executive 
directors (including the chairman), one is a non-executive director, and the remaining two are executive directors. The majority of 
directors (4) are non-executive directors, of whom a majority (3) are independent. The independent non-executive directors meet the 
test of independence as embodied in King III and in the JSE Listings Requirements. All non-executive directors are individuals of high 
caliber and make a significant contribution to the board’s deliberations. Accordingly, the company does have a majority of independent 
non-executive directors. 

The executive directors have overall responsibility for implementing the group’s strategy; which is determined by the board.

Directors are apprised, whenever relevant, of any new legislation and changing commercial risks that may affect the affairs of the 
company.

Non-executive directors do not hold service contracts with the company. The executive directors do not have fixed term service 
contracts with the company. The board meets at least four times a year to discuss and review issues of strategy, planning, operational 
and financial performance, stakeholder communications and other material matters reserved for its decision. Further operational 
meetings are held as required. An agenda, the minutes of the previous meeting and supporting papers are distributed to all directors 
prior to each board meeting, giving them sufficient time to consider matters for discussion.

Where directors are unable to attend board meetings for any reason, every effort is made to obtain and communicate to the meeting 
their comments on agenda items, as well as general items. Explanations and motivations for items of business requiring decisions are 
given in the meeting, ensuring that all the relevant facts and circumstances are brought to the attention of directors. Directors have 
unrestricted access to all group property and records and are kept fully informed of progress on matters between formal meetings by 
way of ad hoc meetings and regular communications. Directors also have unrestricted access to the group secretary for advice and 
information.

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS

Non-executive directors are available to management at all times when required and did attend several non-board meetings during 
the year. During the review period (1 March 2014 to 28 February 2015), the board met formally four times, with the group’s designated 
advisor and secretary present.

director Meetings held/attended

J G Scott** (chairman) 4/4

P J Cilliers 4/4

E Bramley* 4/4

R Rossiter** 4/4

M Scott*** 0/0

I W S Collair** 4/4

T W Scott**** 4/4

*  Denotes non-executive
**  Denotes independent non-executive
***  Appointed 1 July 2015
****  Resigned 26 May 2015



24 Chrometco Integrated report 2015

BOARD CHANGES
The following changes to the board took place during the year under review:

• T W Scott – resigned as a financial director on 26 May 2015.

• M Scott – appointed as financial director on 1 July 2015.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR
The role of chairman and managing director remain separate and distinct. The chairman is responsible for running the board, while the 
managing director is responsible for conducting the affairs of the group. Consequently, no one individual at board level has unfettered 
powers of decision-making. During the review period and at the date of this report, the chairman can be considered an independent 
non-executive director as embodied in the King Code and JSE Listings Requirements.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit, risk, and remuneration and nomination committees have been constituted to assist the board in the discharge of its duties 
and responsibilities. All committees act within their respective terms of reference, under which certain functions of the board are 
assigned with defined purposes, membership requirements, duties and reporting procedures. They are required to carry out self-
evaluations of their performance at least annually. Board committees are also required to be reviewed by the board. Board committees 
may take independent professional advice at the company’s expense when necessary. Chairmen of the board committees, or their 
representatives, are required to attend all general meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders. The board is satisfied that the 
board committees set out below have effectively discharged their responsibilities as contained in their respective terms of reference 
for the year under review. A description of each board committee, and details of attendance and membership of the committees is 
set out below:

AUDIT COMMITTEE

director Number of meetings held/attended

R Rossiter (chairman) Independent non-executive director 3/3

J G Scott Independent non-executive director 3/3

E Bramley Non-executive director 3/3

I W S Collair Independent non-executive director 3/3

The primary role of the Audit Committee is to ensure the integrity of financial reporting and the audit process. A full report of the 
committee is set out on page 38. The committee, which must have a minimum of three members, consists exclusively of non-
executive directors and has a majority of independent non-executive directors. The committee meets at least twice each year with 
the quorum being two members. The board has determined that the chairman has the skills, qualifications and experience necessary 
to contribute meaningfully to the committee’s deliberations. The managing director, financial director and the external auditors attend 
meetings by invitation. Each member has one vote and the chairman has no casting vote. The terms of the audit and corporate 
governance committee are reviewed annually. The King Code recommends that the chairman of the board should not be a member 
of the Audit Committee. Due to the fact that the board only consisted of six members for a substantial portion of the year under 
review and that there were only four non-executives on the board during that period, Mr J G Scott was historically required to become 
a member of the Audit Committee. Additionally, section 94 of the Companies Act of South Africa and the King Code recommends 
that the Audit Committee consists of at least three members. The Audit Committee obtains at its discretion, the services of advisors, 
experts and specialists in order for it to appropriately consider all matters presented to it and to assist the committee in executing 
its duties.

The Audit Committee’s duties mainly include:
• assessing the group’s relationship with the external auditors;
• approval of all non-audit services to be provided by the external auditors;
•  presentation of financial statements and reports complying with all relevant corporate disclosure requirements and accounting 

standards;
• reviewing any other announcement on the group’s results or other financial information;

Corporate governance continued
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• the identification of exposure to significant risks;
• all corporate governance issues;
• assessing the operation of adequate processes of internal control;
• approval of fees payable to external auditors for audit and non audit services; and
• approving the appointment of the financial director and satisfying itself as to his/her competence on an annual basis.

In addition, the committee considers any matters referred to it by the board. The chairman of the committee reports to the board on 
its recommendations.

Members complete a self-evaluation analysis of the committee’s performance during the year. The board will determine at its next 
meeting whether the Audit Committee has satisfied its responsibilities for the review period in compliance with its terms of reference.

The board is of the opinion that the external auditors observe the highest level of business and professional ethics and that their 
independence is not in any way impaired.

The Audit Committee has satisfied itself as to the expertise and experience of the financial director during the current financial year.

The chairman of the committee or his representative attends the AGM annually to address any questions that may be raised by 
shareholders and other stakeholders.

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

director Number of meetings held/attended

J G Scott (chairman) Independent non-executive director 2/2

E Bramley Non-executive director 2/2

R Rossiter Independent non-executive director 2/2

I W S Collair Independent non-executive director 2/2

The remuneration and nominations committee, must have a minimum of two members, comprised of non-executive directors, with one 
being independent. The remuneration and nominations committee endeavours to meet at least twice per year, subject to necessity/
requirement. The financial director and managing director do not attend remuneration and nominations committee meetings. Neither 
of them, nor any other senior executive, may be present at meetings of the committee when remuneration issues applicable to 
them are discussed or considered. A quorum for a meeting is two members present in person. Each member has one vote and the 
chairman has no casting vote. The terms of reference of the remuneration and nominations committee are reviewed annually.

The areas of responsibility of the committee are an annual review of:
• the salary package payable to any executive director and the company secretary;
• the remuneration payable to directors and board committee members of the company;
• the remuneration payable to non-executive directors for services provided other than as a director;
• the company’s compliance with employment equity requirements;
• the company’s share incentive scheme; and
• the group’s compliance with employment equity requirements.

An additional responsibility of the committee is the identifying and nominating of fit and proper candidates for approval by the board 
as additional directors or to fill any board vacancies as they arise. 

The chairman of the committee reports to the board on recommendations made by the committee. The committee also advises the 
board on succession planning. The chairman of the committee attends the AGM annually to address any questions that may be raised 
by shareholders and other stakeholders. In terms of King III, the chairman of the board may not be the chairman of the remuneration 
committee. During the year under review, the chairman of the board also held the position of chairman of the remuneration committee 
for operational reasons. The company will seek to appoint one of the independent non-executive directors as chairman of the 
remuneration committee during the 2015/2016 year in order to apply the requirements of King III. 

The members of the committee will complete a self-evaluation analysis of the committee’s performance during the year. The board 
will determine at a future meeting whether the remuneration committee has satisfied its responsibilities for the year under review in 
compliance with its terms of reference.
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RISk COMMITTEE

director Number of meetings held/attended

J G Scott (chairman) Independent non-executive director 1/1

M Scott* Executive director 0/0

I W S Collair Independent non-executive director 1/1

R Rossiter Independent non-executive director 1/1

E Bramley Non-executive director 1/1

P J Cilliers Executive director 1/1

T W Scott * Executive director 1/1

* Appointed 1 July 2015
** Resigned 26 May 2015

The risk committee comprises the independent non-executive chairman, the independent non-executive directors, the non-executive 
director and both of the executive directors. The risk committee handles any matter referred to it by the board.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

director Number of meetings held/attended

E Bramley (chairman) Non-executive director 1/1

J G Scott Independent non-executive director 1/1

P J Cilliers Executive director 1/1

T W Scott* Executive director 1/1

M Scott** Executive director 0/0

*  Resigned 26 May 2015
** Appointed 1 July 2015

The social and ethics committee reviews and manages the company’s commitment to:
•  social and economic development, including the principles of the UN Global Compact, Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment, 

Employment Equity and the OECD’s recommendations on corruption;
•  good corporate citizenship, including the promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, corporate social responsibility, 

ethical behaviour and managing environmental impacts;
• consumer relations; 
• labour and employment, including skills development; and

•  transformation by, at the very least, ensuring compliance with the Employment Equity Act, the Mining Charter and the BBBEE Codes 
of Good Practice. 

The social and ethics committee meets once per annum in accordance with its terms of reference.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

COMPOSITION Of ExECUTIvE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Basic salary
Where the remuneration committee determines that the composition of directors’ remuneration requires re-assessment, executive 
directors’ salaries are reviewed annually by the remuneration committee and benchmarked against external market data considering 
the size and complexity of the group and its operations. Individual performance and overall responsibility are also considered. The 
chairman reviews the performance of the executive managing director annually.

Corporate governance continued
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Since July 2013, the executive directors have undertaken to fix their executive monthly basic remuneration at R50 000 each in order 
to assist the group in its cost-cutting efforts. This arrangement will be revisited by the remuneration committee from time to time 
over the forthcoming financial year and will be revised if appropriate and depending on prevailing economic circumstances. Despite 
the aforementioned remuneration arrangement, the group remains committed to its philosophy of benchmarking basic executive 
remuneration against comparable market related norms.

Long-term incentive plan
The company has an approved plan in place. At year-end, awards which are not expected to vest had been issued under the plan. 
The plan is a cash-settled incentive scheme.

Annual performance bonus
The executive directors did not participate in a formal annual performance bonus scheme.

NON-ExECUTIvE DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Where the remuneration committee feels that it is necessary, the remuneration and fees of non-executive directors are reviewed 
annually to ensure that they remain competitive and that they attract individuals of appropriate reputation and experience to the board. 
Shareholders are required to approve the remuneration of non-executive directors in advance at a general meeting of the company.

BOARD COMMITTEE fEES
The remuneration of board committee members is determined by the board, as provided in the Memorandum of Incorporation. For 
the 2014/2015 financial year, the following rates of fees were applicable:

Board meeting
Members: R8 000 per meeting

Audit Committee
Members: R4 000 per meeting

Remuneration and nomination committee
Members: R4 000 per meeting

Risk committee
Members: R nil per meeting 

Social and ethics committee
Members: R nil per meeting 

fees for services rendered other than as a director
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, non-executive directors who perform services outside the scope of the ordinary duties 
of a director may be paid additional remuneration. Such duties have historically often been required to be rendered by the non-
executive directors. In lieu of services rendered, non-executive directors who regularly perform additional services accrue fees at a 
rate of R1 000 per hour.

The rates above have been proposed to shareholders for approval for the 2015/2016 financial year.

THE GROUP COMPANy SECRETARy

The appointment and removal of the group company secretary is a matter for the board as a whole. The company secretary is a central 
source of information and advice to the board and within the company on matters of ethics and good governance.

The group secretary’s functions include the following: 
• Providing the directors, collectively and individually, with detailed guidance on their duties, responsibilities and powers; 
•  Providing information on all laws, legislation, regulations and matters of ethics and good corporate governance relevant to or 

affecting the group;
• Making certain that all statutory requirements are complied with;
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•  Ensuring that the minutes of all shareholders’ meetings, directors’ meetings, board committee meetings, as well as meetings of 
management, are properly recorded;

• Administering closed periods for dealing in the group’s shares; and
• Managing the induction of new directors.

The board of directors has considered and satisfied itself during the year under review and at the date of this report regarding the 
competence, qualifications and experience of the company secretary. In reaching this conclusion, the board undertook an annual 
assessment of the company secretary’s performance for the past year, as well as her qualifications and experience. The company 
secretary maintains an arms-length relationship with the board of directors. While the company secretary is a juristic entity, the board of 
directors has considered the individual performing the company secretary role in its annual assessment of the company secretary, as 
well as the directors and shareholders of the juristic entity appointed to the position of group company secretary. The group appointed 
a new company secretary, Ms. Vanessa Marques of the Green Board CC, in October 2014.

ANNUAL fINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are required by the South African Companies Act to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the 
preparation of the annual financial statements and related financial information of the company and group at the end of the financial 
year, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

The external auditors, Mazars, are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the annual financial statements in conformity 
with International Standards on Auditing and the Companies Act. Their unqualified report appears on page 33.

RISk MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The board has ultimate responsibility for the total process of risk management and its effectiveness within the group. Management is 
accountable to the board and has established internal controls to manage significant group risk. This assists the board in discharging 
its responsibility for ensuring that the range of risks associated with its operations are effectively managed in support of the creation 
and preservation of shareholder value.

In view of the limited extent of the nature of the group’s business, the board considers it currently unnecessary to operate an internal 
audit function.

Regular management reports, which provide a balanced assessment of key risks, are an important component of board assurance.

The board is satisfied that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the group.

IT GOvERNANCE
Due to the size of the company, and the nature of its operations, reliance and dependence on IT systems is insignificant. For this 
reason, the board has no formal policy regarding IT governance. The board will revise this assessment in the future in the event that 
there is a change in the circumstances described above.

DEALING IN SECURITIES
The group has a policy in place to restrict the dealing in its securities by directors, employees or other designated persons.

No employee may deal, either directly or indirectly, in the group’s ordinary shares on the basis of unpublished price-sensitive information 
regarding its business or affairs. No director, company secretary, officer or other employee of the group or designated person may 
trade in the group’s shares during a closed period as determined by the board in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements. 
A list of persons who are restricted for this purpose has been approved by the board and is revised from time to time. A register 
of directors, company secretary and officers is available for inspection at the company secretary’s registered office at 71 Van Beek 
Avenue, Glenanda, Johannesburg.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITy AND SUSTAINABILITy
As a relatively small business, the group has not yet established a corporate social responsibility and sustainability policy, but 
endeavours to be a responsible corporate citizen in all its dealings with stakeholders.

Corporate governance continued
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GROUP ETHICS
The group is committed to the highest standards of professionalism and organisational integrity, as well as ethical and legal conduct in 
business dealings with stakeholders. A code of business conduct has been developed and implemented by the group, which outlines 
the ethical and professional management that Chrometco upholds.  

COMMUNICATION
Chrometco subscribes to a policy of full, accurate and consistent communication in respect of both its financial and operating affairs. 
The group regularly communicates with major shareholders, institutional investors, analysts and the media.

Chrometco encourages its shareholders to attend the group’s general meetings, which provide opportunities for shareholders to ask 
questions of the board, including the chairmen of the two main standing committees of the board, or their representatives.

Shareholders are informed at annual general meetings of the results of voting, in person and by proxy, in respect of all ordinary and 
special resolutions proposed at such meetings.

The group’s website address is www.chrometco.co.za.

DESIGNATED ADvISOR
PSG Capital acts as Designated Advisor to the group in compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements.

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE (COMPLIANCE wITH kING CODE)

Principle role and function of the board
Statement addressing the extent of the application/
reason for non-compliance

Principle 2.1  The board should act as the focal point for and 
custodian of corporate governance. 

The Board fully subscribes to this principal.

Principle 2.2 The board should appreciate that strategy, risk, 
performance and sustainability are inseparable. 

The Board considers all four of these principals regularly.

Principle 2.3 The board should provide effective leadership 
based on an ethical foundation. 

The Board subscribes to this principal.

Principle 2.4 The board should ensure that the company is and 
is seen to be a responsible corporate citizen. 

The Board subscribes to this principal.

Principle 2.5 The board should ensure that the company’s ethics 
are managed effectively. 

The Social and Ethics Committee implements this.

Principle 2.6 The board should ensure that the company has an 
effective and independent audit committee. 

The Audit Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive director, and comprises 4 non-executive directors 
of which 3 are independent.

Principle 2.7 The board should be responsible for the 
governance of risk.

The Risk Committee has been tasked with this function.

Principle 2.8 The board should be responsible for information 
technology (IT) governance. 

The Board is cognisant of IT risks, but currently due to the 
nature of the business, IT risks are considered to be low.

Principle 2.9 The board should ensure that the company 
complies with applicable laws and considers 
adherence to non-binding rules, codes and 
standards. 

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.10 The board should ensure that there is an effective 
risk-based internal audit. 

This has not been applied due to the absence of significant 
economic activity currently.

Principle 2.11 The board should appreciate that stakeholders’ 
perceptions affect the company’s reputation. 

The Board complies with this principal.
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Principle role and function of the board
Statement addressing the extent of the application/
reason for non-compliance

Principle 2.12 The board should ensure the integrity of the 
company’s integrated report. 

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.13 The board should report on the effectiveness of the 
company’s system of internal controls. 

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.14 The board and its directors should act in the best 
interests of the company. 

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.15 The board should consider business rescue 
proceedings or other turnaround mechanisms as 
soon as the company is financially distressed as 
defined in the Act. 

The Board is cognisant of this principal.

Principle 2.16 The board should elect a chairman of the board 
who is an independent non-executive director. The 
CEO of the company should not also fulfill the role 
of chairman of the board.

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.17 The board should appoint the chief executive officer 
and establish a framework for the delegation of 
authority. 

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.18 The board should compromise a balance of power, 
with a majority of non-executive directors. The 
majority of non-executive directors should be 
independent.

The Board consist of 6 members, four of whom are non-
executive. Of the non-executives, 3 are independent.

Principle 2.19 Directors must be appointed through a formal 
process.

Directors are appointed via the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee.

Principle 2.20 the induction of and on-going training and 
development of directors should be conducted 
through formal processes.

The Board complies with this principal. New directors 
attend the IOD (SA) directors induction course.

Principle 2.21 The board should be assisted by a competent, 
suitable qualified and experienced company 
secretary.

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.22 The evaluation of the board, it’s committees and the 
individual directors should be performed every year.

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.23 The board should delegate certain functions to 
well-structured committees but without abdicating 
its own responsibilities.

The Board has set up relevant committees, but accepts 
ultimate responsibility.

Principle 2.24 A governance framework should be agreed 
between the group and its subsidiary boards.

This is not applicable as the Group currently does not have 
any trading subsidiaries.

Principle 2.25 Companies should remunerate directors and 
executives fairly and responsibly.

The Group complies with this principal.

Principle 2.26  Companies should disclose the remuneration 
of each individual director and certain senior 
executives.

The Group discloses this information in its Integrated Annual 
Report.

Principle 2.27  Shareholders should approve the company’s 
remuneration policy.

This is complied with at the Annual General Meeting.

Corporate governance continued
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The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements of the company and the group 
annual financial statements, comprising the directors’ report, statements of financial position at 28 February 2015, the statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the year then ended and the notes to the financial statements, which 
include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), JSE requirements and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and for maintaining adequate accounting records 
and an effective system of risk management. 

The directors have made an assessment of the company and its subsidiaries’ ability to continue as going concerns and have no reason 
to believe that the businesses will not be going concerns in the year ahead. 

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the company annual financial statements and group annual financial statements are 
fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. 

The annual financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2015 set out on pages 34 to 69 were approved by the board of directors 
on 19 August 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

J G Scott      P J Cilliers
Chairman      Managing Director

Declaration by company secretary

In my capacity as company secretary, I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the company has lodged with the 
Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required to be lodged by a public company in terms of section 
88 (2)(e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, and that all such returns appear to be true, correct and up to date.

19 August 2015 

V Marques

The Green Board Company Secretaries

Directors’ Responsibility for the  
Annual Financial Statements
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to the shareholDers of chrometco limiteD

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Chrometco Limited set out on pages 40 to 69, which comprise 
the statements of financial position as at 28 February 2015, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes 
in equity and statements cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consoliDateD financial statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

auDitor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 
financial position of Chrometco Limited as at 28 February 2015, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

other reports requireD by the companies act 

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2015, we have read the 
Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Declaration for the purpose of identifying whether there 
are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. These reports are 
the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies between 
these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports and 
accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

Mazars  
Brian Bank 
Registered Auditor

19 August 2015  
Johannesburg 

Report of the Independent Auditors
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Directors’ Report

The board of directors has pleasure in presenting their report for the year ended 28 February 2015.

nature of business

Chrometco Limited (Chrometco or the company) is primarily involved in the acquisition and exploration of mineral resources projects 
and the possible beneficiation thereof.

The company has the right of use of new order mining rights for chrome on Portion 2 of the farm Rooderand and the Remainder 
thereof. The new order mining right is held by Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd.

Chrometco entered into a conditional sale of shares agreement with DCM Chrome SA (Pty) Ltd (DCM) in 2007, in terms of 
which the company would sell its Rooderand assets (held through its subsidiary companies) to DCM for a total consideration of  
R62 million subject to, amongst other conditions precedent, shareholder approval. In July 2011, the conditional sale was presented 
to shareholders at a general meeting of the company. Shareholders did not approve the sale of the Rooderand assets to DCM for  
R62 million and, accordingly, the conditions precedent to the sale of shares agreement were not met.

In terms of a mining and management agreement entered into in 2007 with DCM, pursuant to which DCM was currently mining the 
Rooderand assets, DCM was obliged to pay Chrometco an amount equal to R13 million annually for the right to mine and for mining 
activities at Rooderand. Chrometco received the first payment in December 2007, as well as three subsequent payments in December 
2008, 2009 and 2010. These payments have been received in terms of the mining and management agreement. The total amount 
of payments to be made under the mining and management agreement was limited to R62 million. The mining and management 
agreement terminated on 3 December 2011. The company recovered approximately R1.1 million from the liquidation of DCM Chrome, 
after it failed to make the last R10 million payment in terms of the mining and management agreements.

Chrometco is currently in the process of undertaking mining and exploration operations at Rooderand, while simultaneously investigating 
other opportunities in relation to realising the residual value of the Rooderand assets in a manner which result in the maximisation of 
shareholder wealth. The company is also in the process of consolidating its PGM and Chrome mining rights.

During the 2013 financial year, Chrometco entered into an agreement with Realm Resources Ltd and Nkwe Platinum SA (Pty) Ltd to 
acquire geological data, drill cores and the PGM prospecting rights on the Remainder Portion on Rooderand. In terms of the agreement, 
Chrometco will issue a further 70 million shares to Realm Resources Ltd and Nkwe Platinum SA (Pty) Ltd upon the successful inclusion 
of the PGM mining rights on the Remainder Extent in the group’s existing mining right for chrome on that tenement. Conclusion of this 
transaction will result in the addition of 8.7 million ounces of PGMs to the group’s mineral resource portfolio. At the date of this report, 
the company was still awaiting ministerial approval for the inclusion of the PGM mining rights on Remainder Extent in terms of section 
102 and section 11 of the Mineral Petroleum Resources Development Act.

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd is the intended recipient of a new order mining right on the Rooderand property, subject to the successful 
transfer (in terms of the Mineral Petroleum and Resources Development Act) of the new order mining right held by Pilanesberg Mining 
Company (Pty) Ltd.

In order for Rooderand to comply with the MPRDA and BEE requirement, in October 2014 and as part of the second phase of the 
group’s BEE initiative, a black owned company, Onicastar Proprietary Limited, subscribed for 220 shares in Rooderand Chrome 
Proprietary Limited as part of an underwritten rights offer of 900 shares. This takes the total shares under BEE control up to 234 out of  
900 equating to 26%.

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary, holds 76% of the issued share capital of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd; 
which is the holder of a new order mining rights on portion 2, and the remainder thereof, of the farm Rooderand.

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary, is responsible for undertaking various ad-hoc operations at 
Rooderand.

During the final quarter of the 2015 financial year, the company entered into joint mining operations at Rooderand together with 
International Ferro metals Limited (“IFM”). In terms of the joint mining arrangement, IFM has undertaken chrome mining operations 
at their risk on the LG6 chrome seams at Rooderand in exchange for the group receiving variable revenue per ton based on chrome 
grades achieved.

General review of operations

During the year under review, management focused its attention on the following issues:
• revisiting the company’s mineral resources and reserves statement;
• management of the company’s financial assets and contractual relationships;
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• optimisation of the allocation of capital resources;
• undertaking mining activities at Rooderand by way of the IFM transaction (discussed below); 
• acquisition and consolidation of PGM prospecting rights on the Rooderand property; and
• corporate action to increase our BEE shareholding in subsidiaries.

seGment report

Chrometco is a minerals exploration company with prospects in the North West Province of the Republic of South Africa.

As the group is currently involved in the exploration for various mineral resources only and all income and expenditure, assets and 
liabilities are held and incurred in this single activity, segmental information will not be presented until such time as the business has 
developed and segments of the business can be properly identified and a meaningful allocation can be made between such segments. 
All management information is presented in one segment due to the fact that the company and group only has one geographical and 
operating segment/activity.

financial results

The group achieved a comprehensive loss after tax for the year amounting to R16 811 771 (2014: profit of R904 427) after a tax 
expense of R4 552 772 (2014: saving of R7 631 040).

DiviDenDs

No dividends were declared during the period under review (2014: Rnil).

subsiDiaries

Directly and indirectly held

Issued 
share

 capital
            R

Percentage
 holding
         %

Shares
 at carrying

 value
              R

Due by/(to)
 subsidiaries

    R

Share of 
net profit/

(loss)
 R

28 February 2015

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd 104 100 nil 171 001 _

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd 900 74 nil 74 302 (60 000)

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd 1 000 76 nil 749 455 450

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd 100 100 nil (983 320) (283 010)

11 438 (342 560)

During the year Chrometco advanced the amount of R416 917 (2014: R6 000) by way of interest free loans to the subsidiary 
companies, and received an amount of Rnil (2014: R983 320) from subsidiary companies as disclosed in note 4 to the financial 
statements. Certain of these loans have been subordinated in favour of the other creditors of the companies until such time as the 
assets of the subsidiary, fairly valued, exceed the liabilities of the subsidiaries.

Chrometco has also supplied the subsidiary companies with letters of support indicating that Chrometco will provide the subsidiary 
companies with financial support to meet their obligations.

share capital

The company issued 20 million shares to Realm Resources  Limited and Nkwe Platinum (Pty) Ltd in terms of the Nkwe acquisition 
during the prior year. There were no changes to share capital during the year under review.

The company does not have any unlisted securities in issue at the date of this report. The company did not repurchase any of its 
shares during the year under review, as well as in the comparative prior period. The company is also not party to any restrictive funding 
arrangements as contemplated in terms of section 8.63 of the JSE Listings Requirements.  
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Directors’ interests in share capital

At 28 February 2015 the directors of the company held directly and indirectly the following shares in the company:

Directors

Number of
 shares 

2015

Number of
 shares

2014
Percentage

  2015
Percentage 

2014

Ordinary shares directly and indirectly beneficial

E Bramley 37 602 732 37 602 732 18.35 18.35

T W Scott** 300 000 300 000 0.15 0.15 

P J Cilliers 550 000 550 000 0.27 0.27

38 452 732 38 452 732 18.77 18.77

The company has not been informed of any material changes in these holdings at the date of this report. The amounts reflected above 
include any interests held by a director of the company in the past 18 months.

* All holdings are direct except for 32 877 532 held indirectly by E Bramley via Audax Resources (Pty) Ltd.
** Resigned 26 May 2015.

executive share incentive scheme

The company has a cash-settled long-term incentive plan in place. At year-end, no awards which were expected to vest had been 
made in terms of the plan.

major shareholDers of the company

The interests reflected below relate to any shareholders that directly or indirectly, are beneficially interested in 5% or more of any class 
of the issued share capital.

Percentage
holding

 2015

Percentage
holding

2014

Shares 
held 
2015

Shares 
held 
2014

Shareholder ordinary shares

Six Sis Limited (off shore) 25.37 25.37 52 000 000 52 000 000

Audax Resources (Pty) Ltd* 16.04 16.04 32 877 532 32 877 532

Anglorand Securities Ltd 13.71 13.94 28 103 987 28 560 234

55.12 55.35 112 981 519 113 437 766

*  Audax Resources are included in the holdings of E Bramley, a director.

The shareholding can be summarised as follows:

Percentage
holding

 2015

Percentage
holding

2014

Shares 
held 
2015

Shares 
held 
2014

Non-public shareholders 57.85 58.08 118 556 719 119 012 966

Public shareholders 42.15 41.92 86 371 964 85 915 717

acquisition of rooDeranD GeoloGical information anD pGm prospectinG riGhts 
from realm resources limiteD anD nkwe platinum limiteD

In October 2012, shareholders voted in favour of acquiring geological information and PGM prospecting rights from Realm Resources 
Limited and Nkwe Platinum Limited. The geological data had a fair value of R18.7 million and payment for which was settled via an 
issue of 20 million ordinary shares. The acquisition of the PGM prospecting rights is still subject to completion (pending approval by 
the Department of Mineral Resources in terms of section 102 of the Mineral Petroleum and Resources Development Act); payment 
for which will be settled through the issue of a further 70 million ordinary shares. At the date of this report, ministerial approval for the 
transaction in terms of section 102 was still pending.

Directors’ Report continued
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borrowinGs

There were no significant borrowings at 28 February 2015.

events subsequent to year-enD

There are no reportable material events that took place subsequent to the financial year end.

black economic empowerment

The company is committed to the principles of black economic empowerment and accordingly implemented a second round of black 
economic empowerment initiatives that achieve compliance with the Mining Charter at December 2014. Refer to note 4 of the annual 
financial statements for further information on the existing empowerment structures. The Bee shareholding in Rooderand Chrome 
increased from 14% to 26% during the year.

Directors
The directors of the company during the accounting period and up to the date of this report were as follows:

P J Cilliers   Executive (MD)

J G Scott  Independent non-executive chairman

M Scott    Executive (FD)

I W S Collair  Independent non-executive

R Rossiter  Independent non-executive

R McConnachie  Independent non-executive (alternate to R Rossiter)

E Bramley  Non-executive 

T W Scott   Executive (FD)

The following changes to the board took place during the year under review, and up to the date of this report:

T Scott   Resigned 26 May 2015

M Scott   Appointed 1 July 2015

secretary

The secretary at the date of this report is Ms Vanessa Marques of the Green Board Company Secretaries CC.

business aDDress  postal aDDress   reGistereD aDDress
Sparrebosch Building  PO Box 758   71 Van Beek Avenue

The Greens Office Park   Mondeor    Glenanda Johannesburg

Charles De Gaulle Crescent  South Africa   South Africa

Highveld Park Ext12  2110    2001

South Africa 

2000

auDitors

Mazars replaced RSM Betty & Dickson (Johannesburg) as auditors during the year and will continue in office in terms of section  
90 of the Companies Act. The designated audit partner is Mr Brian Bank, who is a JSE accredited auditor.

GoinG concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, since the directors have reason to believe that the company 
has adequate resources in place and available to it from its shareholders to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. In reaching 
this conclusion, the directors have considered the following:
• the company’s cash requirements over the next 12 months;
• the company’s current financial position; and
•  the probability of non-recurring events and circumstances that may have an impact on the company’s future cash flows and financial 

position over the next 12 months. 
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The Audit Committee reports that it has discharged all of its responsibilities for the current financial year, including but not limited to:

•  nominated the appointment of Mazars as the registered independent auditors after satisfying itself through enquiry that Mazars is 
independent as defined in the terms of the Companies Act of South Africa;

• determined the fees to be paid to Mazars and their terms of engagement;

•  ensured that the appointment of Mazars complied with the Companies Act and any other legislation relating to the appointment of 
auditors;

•  approved a non-audit services policy which determines the nature and extent of any non-audit services which Mazars may provide 
to the company; and

• approved the appointment of the financial director and satisfied itself as to his experience and expertise.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that an adequate system of internal control is in place to reduce significant risks faced by the group 
to an acceptable level, and that these controls have been effective throughout the period under review. The system is designed to 
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure and to maximise opportunities to achieve business objectives. This can provide only 
reasonable, but not absolute assurance. 

As required by the JSE Limited Listings Requirement 3.84(h), the Audit Committee has satisfied itself that Mr Trevor Scott, the group 
financial director during the current financial year, has appropriate experience and expertise. 

The Audit Committee has evaluated the group and company annual financial statements of Chrometco Limited for the year ended  
28 February 2015 and based on the information provided to the Audit Committee, considers that it complies, in all material respects 
with the requirements of the various Acts governing disclosure and reporting in the annual financial statements. The Audit Committee 
has evaluated the independence of the external auditors and the Audit Committee is satisfied that the external auditors have remained 
independent. The Audit Committee therefore recommends the adoption of the annual financial statements by the board. 

The board has subsequently approved the financial statements which will be open for discussion at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting.

On behalf of the Audit Committee

R Rossiter

Audit Committee Chairman

19 August 2015

Report by the Audit Committee



39Chrometco Integrated report 2015

The Committee reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Charter, and has regulated its affairs in 
compliance with this Charter, and has discharged all of the responsibilities set out therein.

The Committee was established in December 2011 to assist the Board in ensuring that Chrometco is and remains a good and 
responsible corporate citizen, and to perform the statutory functions required of a Social and Ethics Committee in terms of the 
Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”).

The Committee monitors relevant legislation, other legal requirements and prevailing codes of best practice, specifically with regard to 
matters relating to social and economic development, good corporate citizenship, the environment, health and public safety, as well 
as labour and employment.

The Committee is satisfied that the Group’s performance in the categories noted above and will continue to review, assess and report 
on these areas in the future.

Edward Bramley

Social and Ethics Committee Chairman

19 August 2015

Social and Ethics Committee Report
for the year ended 28 february 2015
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
at 28 february 2015

    GRouP        ComPANy

Note
2015 

R
2014 

R
2015 

R
2014 

R

ASSETS

Non-current assets 187 598 710 196 448 338 21 721 960 24 370 588

Tangible assets 2 2 267 502 7 005 2 267 502 7 005

Intangible assets 3 183 751 735 190 625 153 17 874 985 18 547 403

Investment in subsidiaries 4 – – – –

Deferred taxation 19 – 5 816 180 – 5 816 180

Environmental rehabilitation investments 5 1 579 473 – 1 579 473 –

Current assets 8 373 043 15 469 555 8 351 491 15 355 604

Inventory 6 – 80 475 – –

Trade and other receivables 7 1 039 299 446 196 1 038 928 923 585

Cash and cash equivalents 8 7 333 744 14 942 884 7 312 563 14 432 019

Total assets 195 971 753 211 917 893 30 073 451 39 726 292

EQuITy AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves   160 927 759   178 949 843 25 638 776 38 579 588

Stated capital 9 54 187 246 54 187 246 54 187 246 54 187 246

Retained earnings/(accumulated loss) 74 539 190 91 350 961 (28 548 470) (15 607 658)

Attributable to Ordinary Shareholders 128 726 436 145 538 207 25 638 776 38 579 588

Non-controlling interest 10 32 201 323 33 411 636 – –

Non-current liabilities 33 865 452 32 131 480 2 901 792 –

Deferred taxation 19 30 963 660 32 131 480 – –

Environmental rehabilitation provision 12 2 901 792 – 2 901 792 –

Current liabilities 1 178 542 836 570 1 532 883 1 146 704

Trade and other payables 11 1 168 542 302 713 969 214 163 384

Provisions 12 10 000 10 000 – –

Loans from group companies 4 – – 563 669 983 320

Taxation payable – 523 857 – –

Total equity and liabilities 195 971 753 211 917 893 30 073 451 39 726 292
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 28 february 2015

GRouP ComPANy

Note
2015 

R
2014 

R
2015 

R
2014 

R

Turnover 13.1 672 103 12 899 720 672 103 –

Cost of sales 13.3 – (13 180 801) – –

Gross profit/(loss) 672 103 (281 081) 672 103 –

Other income 14 1 102 320 85 219 1 102 320 85 000

Amortisation of intangible asset (6 873 418) (6 873 418) (672 419) (672 419)

VAT change in measurement 15 – 6 017 544 – 6 017 544

Operating expenses (8 749 474) (7 701 487) (8 600 325) (7 638 359)

Loss before interest and taxation 16 (13 848 469) (8 753 223) (7 498 321) (2 208 234)

Investment income 18 535 849 816 536 528 700 799 369

Finance cost 18 (156 692) (239) (156 692) –

Loss before taxation (13 469 312) (7 936 926) (7 126 313) (1 408 865)

Taxation 19 (4 552 772) 7 631 040 (5 814 499) 6 483 820

(Loss)/profit for the year (18 022 084) (305 886) (12 940 812) 5 074 955

Total comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year (18 022 084) (305 886) (12 940 812) 5 074 955

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income  
for the year

Attributable to owners of the parent (16 811 771) 904 427 (12 940 812) 5 074 955

Attributable to non-controlling interest (1 210 313) (1 210 313) – –

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 20 (8.20) 0.44

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 20 (6.11) 0.33
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 28 february 2015

Stated
capital 

R

Retained 
earnings/ 

(accumulated 
loss) 

R

ordinary 
shareholders 

interest 
R

Non-
controlling 

interests 
R

Total 
R

GRouP

Balance at 1 March 2013 54 187 246 90 446 534 144 633 378 34 621 949 179 255 729

Non-controlling interest’s share of loss 
for the year – – – (1 210 313) (1 210 313)

Comprehensive loss for the period 
attributable to owners – 904 427 904 427 – 904 427

Balance at 28 February 2014 54 187 246 91 350 961 145 538 207 33 411 636 178 949 843

Non-controlling interest’s share of loss 
for the year – – – (1 210 313) (1 210 313)

Comprehensive profit for the period 
attributable to owners – (16 811 771) (16 811 771) – (16 811 771)

Balance at 28 February 2015 54 187 246 74 539 190 128 726 436 32 201 323 160 927 759

ComPANy

Balance at 28 February 2013 54 187 246 (20 682 613) 33 504 633 – 33 504 633

Comprehensive loss for the period 
attributable to owners – 5 074 955 5 074 955 – 5 074 955

Balance at 28 February 2014 54 187 246 (15 607 658) 38 579 588 – 38 579 588

Comprehensive profit for the period 
attributable to owners – (12 940 812) (12 940 812) – (12 940 812)

Balance at 28 February 2015 54 187 246 (28 548 470) (258 548 470) – 25 638 776

Please refer to note 9 and 10 for more information.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 28 february 2015

GRouP ComPANy

Note
2015 

R
2014 

R
2015 

R
2014 

R

Cash utilised by operations and exploration activities (5 971 126) (5 726 879) (5 474 292) (16 870 229)

Operating loss before working capital changes 27.1 (6 324 327) (1 941 186)   (6 164 879)  (1 596 625)

Working capital changes 27.2 353 201 (3 785 693) 690 587 (15 273 604)

Investment income 18 535 849 816 536 528 700 799 037

Finance cost (156 692) – (156 692) –

Taxation paid 27.3 (419 650) – – –

Net (outflow)/inflow from operating and exploration activities (6 011 619) (4 910 343)  (5 102 284)  (16 071 192)

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to property, plant and equipment 2 (18 049) – (18 049) –

Increase in environmental rehabilitation investment 5 (1 579 472) – (1 579 472) –

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 85 000 – 85 000

Loans to subsidiaries – – (419 651) –

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities (1 597 521) 85 000 (2 017 172) 85 000

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds of loan advances from subsidiary – – – 10 667 370

Net cash outflow from financing activities – – – 10 667 370

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (7 609 140) (4 825 343) (7 119 456) (5 318 822)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 14 942 884 19 768 227 14 432 019 19 750 841

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9 7 333 744 14 942 884 7 312 563 14 432 019
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 28 february 2015

1.  accountinG policies

Chrometco Limited (the company) is a company domiciled in the Republic of South Africa. The financial statements are 
presented in South African Rand (“R”).

1.1 statement of compliance

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),  
and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, except for the changes set out in note 1.4 – new standards 
and interpretations.

1.2 basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain assets and liabilities that are stated at their 
fair values as described in the accounting policies below.

1.3 critical juDGements anD key estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may vary from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of revision and future periods, 
if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Significant judgements and critical estimates include:

Trade receivables and loans and receivables
The group assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In 
determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the company makes judgements as to whether 
there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-
in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is 
reasonably possible that the assumptions may change which may then impact our estimations and may then require a material 
adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill and tangible assets.

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. Assets are grouped at the 
lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are 
indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of assets. 
Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of goodwill and tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could 
materially change over time.

Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 
company recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that the 
deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax 
assets requires the company to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future 
taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. 
To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the company to realise 
the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.
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Valuation of intangible assets acquired through business combination
The mining right held by the subsidiary Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd was measured at fair value for the purposes 
of accounting for the business combination. The fair value of the mining right is represented by the “fair” or median value as 
determined by an independent valuation.

Depreciation and amortisation
Property,plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line over management’s best estimate of their useful lives. Amortisation 
of intangible assets is amortised over the life of the underlying mining rights.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. Control is achieved when the group is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

The group also considers the following facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee:

a)  Contractual arrangements

b)  Rights arising from contractual arrangements

c)  The group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate changes to the elements  
of control.

1.4 new stanDarDs anD interpretations

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements of Chrometco Limited for the year ended 28 February 2015, the following 
standards and interpretations that are relevant to the group were in issue, but not yet effective:

Pronouncement Standard/interpretation date issued by IASB Effective date

Periods 
beginning on 
or after

IFRS 11 Accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations.

The amendments add new guidance on how to account for 
the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation that constitutes 
a business, and which specify the appropriate accounting 
treatment of such acquisitions.

The standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the 
group.

May 2014 1 January 2016

IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and 
amortisation.

The amendments clarify the basis for the calculation of 
depreciation and amortisation being the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits of the asset.

As the group’s existing depreciation and amortisation policies 
are in line with the interpretation, it is not expected that future 
adoption will have a significant impact on the group.

May 2014 1 January 2016

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers.

IFRS 15 replaces IAS 11 construction contracts, IAS 18, IFRIC 
13 customer loyalty programmes, IFRIC 15 agreements for the 
construction of real estate, IFRIC 18 transfers of assets from 
customers and SIC-31 revenue-barter transactions involving 
advertising services. IFRS 15 specifies how and when an IFRS 
reporter will recognise revenue as well as requiring such entities 
to provide users of financial statements with more informative, 
relevant disclosures. The standard provides a single, principles 
based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with 
customers.

At this stage, management is still in the process of assessing the 
potential impact of the standard on the group.

May 2014 1 January 2018
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Pronouncement Standard/interpretation date issued by IASB Effective date

Periods 
beginning on 
or after

IFRS 9 Financial instruments.

Classification and measurement of financial assets
• all financial assets are initially measured at fair value;
•  debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value 

through profit or loss;
•  amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 

income;
•  equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit  

or loss.

Hedge accounting
Hedge effectiveness testing is prospective and depending on the 
hedge complexity, can be qualitative.

A risk component of a financial or non-financial instrument 
may be designated as the hedge item if the risk component is 
separately identifiable and reliably measurable.

More designations of groups of items as the hedged item are 
possible, including layer designations and some net positions.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
For liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss, the 
change in the fair value of the liability attributable to changes 
in credit risk is presented in other comprehensive income. The 
remainder of the change in fair value is presented in profit and 
loss; and all other classificationand measurement requirements 
in IAS 39 have been carried forward into IFRS 9

At this stage, management is still in the process of assessing the 
potential impact of the standard on the group.

July 2014 1 January 2018

IAS 27 Equity method in separate financial statements.

IAS 27 sets out the basis for applying the equity method of 
accounting for investments in the separate financial statements 
of the company.

The standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the 
company.

August 2014 1 January 2016

Amendments to 4 
standards

Improvements to IFRSs 2012 – 2014 cycle. September 
2014

1 January 2016

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 
and IAS 28

Investment entities: applying the consolidation exception.

The amendments address a conflict between the requirements 
of IAS 28 – investments in associates and joint ventures and 
IFRS 10 – consolidated financial statements.

The amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on 
the group.

December 
2014

1 January 2016

IAS 1 Disclosure initiative.

The amendments provide additional guidance on the application 
of materiality and aggregation when preparing the financial 
statements of the group.

The amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on 
the group.

December 
2014

1 January 2016
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Pronouncement Standard/interpretation date issued by IASB Effective date

Periods 
beginning on 
or after

IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: 
Disclosures

•   Amendment: Guidance is now given regarding continuing 
involvement extended to include servicing equipment.

•   Amendment: Disclosure requirements for transferred assets:
 –  That are not derecognised in their entirety; or
 –  That are derecognised but have continuing managerial 

involvement at year-end.

•   Clarity: Offsetting disclosures are not specifically required for 
all interim periods, when its inclusion would be required in 
accordance with the general requirements of IAS 34.

The amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on 
the group.

1 January 2016 1 January 2016

IAS 34 Interim 
Financial Reporting

•   Amendment: Certain disclosures shall be given either in the 
interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference 
to another statement on the same terms and at the same time 
which is available to all users.

The amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on 
the group.

1 January 2016 1 January 2016

1.5 basis of consoliDation

 subsidiary companies and other controlled entities
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and entities controlled by the 
company.

An investor controls an investee when the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. In assessing control, potential voting 
rights which presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account.

Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in 
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses are eliminated on consolidation. Intra-group balances and 
transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra- group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated 
against the investment to the extent of the group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

1.6 tanGible assets

Tangible assets is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost Is the 
fair value of the consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction and includes the direct 
cost of bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for operation and the estimated future cost of closure and 
rehabilitation of the facility. 

Subsequent measurement is at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives of assets. Subsequent expenditure relating 
to an item of tangible assets is capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits from the use of the asset will 
be increased and/or the capacity to generate future economic benefits is increased. All other subsequent expenditure is 
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Surpluses/(deficits) on the disposal of tangible assets are credited to income. The surplus or deficit is the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.
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useful lives of tangible assets
Class of asset useful lives
Other assets  6 years
Furniture and fittings  10 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Rehabilitation asset Remaining life of mining rights

The depreciation method, residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

Each part of an item of tangible assets with cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item shall be depreciated 
separately.

A tangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or where no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item is included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income and is calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item at 
the date of derecognition.

1.7 intanGible assets

mineral properties
Mineral properties acquired as part of a business combination or share based payment transactions are recognised at fair value 
at the acquisition date. All other acquisitions of mineral properties are initially recognised at cost if acquired as an asset.  Cost is 
the fair value of the consideration given to acquire the asset. Mineral properties are tested annually for impairment on the same 
basis that property, plant and equipment are when there is an indication of impairment. Mineral properties will be amortised 
over the life of the related mining right.

useful life of intangible asset
Class of asset useful lives
New Order Mining Right (Chrome) on Portion 2 and the remainder of the farm Rooderand 30 years
Geological Information – Rooderand (acquired from NKWE Platinum) 29 years
Geological information – Rooderand (acquired from DCM Chrome) 29 years

Intangible assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from their use. The gain or 
loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset is included in the statement of comprehensive income and is calculated 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset at the date of derecognition.

1.8 impairment

The carrying amounts of the group’s assets are reviewed at each Statement of Financial Position date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount is 
estimated. The recoverable amount is the higher of its net selling price and its value in use. For intangible assets that are not 
yet available for use, or intangible assets amortised over a period exceeding 20 years, the recoverable amount is estimated at 
each Statement of Financial Position date or if there are indications of impairment present.

In assessing value in use, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An 
impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

For an asset that does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets the recoverable amount 
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income Statement of Comprehensive Income whenever the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount increases as a result of a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been 
determined (net of depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

1.9 financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as:
• loans and receivables; and
• financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
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Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at initial 
recognition.

Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category. 

initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability 
or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not determinable, 
which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial measurement 
of the instrument.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 
until the asset is disposed of or determined to be impaired. Interest on available-for-sale financial assets calculated using the 
effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income. Dividends received on available-for-sale equity 
instruments are recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the company’s right to receive payment is established.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date the group assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, to determine 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and 
default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss
Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset 
at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment 
not been recognised.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss 
within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

trade and other receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market.

Trade and other receivables are recognised in the group’s statement of financial position when the group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. They are initially recognised at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

After initial measurement loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any 
allowance for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised 
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

interest bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs, and have not been 
designated as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’.
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After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation 
process.

trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition, the company measures trade and other payables at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

effective interest rate
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset/liability and of allocating  
interest income over the relevant period.The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash  
receipts/payments (including all fees on charges paid that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs  
and other premiums or discounts) throughout the expected life of the financial instrument or where appropriate, a shorter 
period. The interest income/expense is recognised on an effective basis for all financial assets/liabilities.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets are derecognised when all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset have been transferred.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.

impairment of financial instruments
Loans and receivables: Trade and other receivables
An estimate of any impairment is made to an allowance account on individual receivables. Allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when there is objective evidence 
that the collection of the full amount under the original terms of the invoice is no longer probable.

1.10 revenue

Revenue from goods sold in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognised when persuasive evidence exists, usually 
in the form of an executed sales agreement, that the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated 
reliably, there is no continuing managerial involvement with the goods, and the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. 
If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is recognised as a 
reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

The timing of the transfer of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the sales agreement. For sales of 
chrome ore, transfer usually occurs when the customer receives the product at group’s premises. 

1.11 investment income

Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective rate over the 
period to maturity, when it is probable that such income will accrue to the group.

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

1.12 exploration costs

Exploration costs are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income until completion of a final feasibility study supporting 
proven and probable reserves. Expenditure incurred subsequent to proven and probable reserves being identified is capitalised.
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1.13 taxation

 current taxation
Current taxation is recognised as income or an expense and included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. The current 
taxation payable is based on taxable profit. Taxable profit differs from profit reported in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income where there are items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it also 
excludes items that are not taxable or deductible under existing tax legislation.

Current taxation for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a taxation payable in the statement of 
financial position. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, 
the excess is recognised as a  taxation receivable in the statement of financial position.

Current taxation liabilities and current taxation assets are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/(recovered from) the 
tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax legislation that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current taxation assets and liabilities are offset for presentation in the statement of financial position where the company has a 
legally enforceable right to do so and the income taxes relate to the same tax authority. 

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on 
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date. Deferred tax is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income except to the extent that it relates to a transaction that is recognised directly in equity, or a business combination that is 
an acquisition. The effect on deferred tax of any changes in tax rates is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
except to the extent that it relates to items previously charged or credited directly to equity.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
associated unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Dividend witholding tax
Dividend Witholding Tax is recognised as part of the current tax charge in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the 
related dividend is declared.

1.14 provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost in profit or loss.

site restoration
In accordance with the group’s published environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site restoration 
in respect of contaminated land, and the related expense, is recognised when the land is contaminated.

environmental rehabilitation provision
Decommissioning liabilities
The provision for decommissioning represents the cost that will arise from rectifying damage caused before production 
commenced. Accordingly, an asset is recognised and included within mining properties.

Decommissioning liabilities are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation, using 
estimated cash flows based on current prices. The unwinding of the decommissioning obligation is included in profit or loss. 
Estimated future costs of decommissioning obligations are reviewed regularly and adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances 
or changes in law or technology. Changes in estimates are capitalised or reversed against the relevant asset.

Gains or losses from the expected disposal of assets are not taken into account when determining the provision.

Restoration liabilities
The provision for restoration represents the cost of restoring site damage after the start of production, increases in the provision 
are recognised in profit or loss. Gross restoration liabilities are estimated at the present value of the expenditures expected to 
settle the obligation.
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1.15 employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service.

The provisions for employee entitlements to wages, salaries, annual and sick leave represent the amount, which the group has a 
present obligation to pay as a result of employees’ services provided to the Statement of Financial Position date. The provisions 
have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on current wage and salary rates.

1.16 cash anD cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits held on call with banks, and 
investments in money market instruments, all of which are available for use by the group unless otherwise stated.

1.17 seGment reportinG

As the group is currently involved only in the limited mining and exploration for chrome resources and all income and expenditure, 
assets and liabilities are held and incurred in this single activity, segmental information will not be presented until such time as 
the business has developed and segments of the business can be properly identified and a meaningful allocation can be made 
between such segments.

1.18 inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out 
principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs, and other costs 
incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, 
cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. Cost also includes transfers 
from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of inventories.

1.19 share capital

ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as 
a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 28 february 2015
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Group and company 

Rehabilitation
asset

R

Computer
equipment

R

Furniture 
and 

fittings
R

office 
equipment

R

other 
assets

 R
Total

R

2. tanGible assets
Useful life 28 years 3 years 10 years 6 years 6 years

Carrying amount 1 March 2013 –   17 264 10 500 3 098 –    30 862 

Cost –   50 903 35 000  10 977 21 618 118 498 

Accumulated depreciation –    33 639 24 500  7 879 21 618  87 636 

Additions – – – – 6 6

Depreciation – 17 258 3 500  3 098 1 23 857 

Disposals – 6 – – – 6

Carrying amount  
28 February 2014 – – 7 000 – 5 7 005 

Cost –   – 35 000  – 6 35 006

Accumulated depreciation –   – 28 000  – 1 28 001 

Additions 2 298 020 18 049 – – –  2 316 069 

Depreciation  42 556 6 016 7 000 – 1 55 572 

Disposals – – – – – –   

Carrying amount  
28 February 2015 2 255 464 12 033 –   – 4 2 267 501

Cost 2 298 020 18 049 35 000  – 6  2 351 069

Accumulated depreciation 42 556 6 016 35 000 –  2 83 572

Group

New order 
mining right 
Rooderand  

R

Geological 
information – 

Rooderand 
 R

Total  
R

3. intanGible asset
Useful life 30 years 29 years

Carrying amount 1 March 2013       178 278 750 19 219 822 197 498 972

Fair value at acquisition        186 030 000 19 499 994 205 529 994

Accumulated depreciation 7 751 250  280 172     8 031 422

Additions – – –

Amortisation 6 201 000 672 419 6 873 419       

Disposals – – –

Carrying amount 28 February 2014 172 077 750 18 547 403 190 625 153

Fait value at acquisition 186 030 000 19 499 994 205 529 994

Accumulated depreciation 13 952 250  952 591    14 904 841

Additions – – –

Amortisation 6 201 000 672 418     6 873 418 

Disposals – – –

Carrying amount 28 February 2015  165 876 750 17 874 985 183 751 735

Fair value at acquisition 186 030 000 19 499 994 205 529 994

Accumulated depreciation 20 153 250 1 625 009     21 778 259
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Company

Geological 
Information – 

Rooderand 
 R

Total  
R

3. intanGible assets (continued)
Useful life 29 years

Carrying amount 1 March 2013 19 219 822 19 219 822

Fair value at acquisition 19 499 994 19 499 994

Accumulated depreciation  280 172  280 172

Additions – –

Depreciation 672 419 672 419

Disposals – –

Carrying amount 28 February 2014 18 547 403 18 547 403 

Fait value at acquisition 19 499 994 19 499 994

Accumulated depreciation  952 591  952 591

Additions – –

Depreciation 672 418 672 418

Disposals – –

Carrying amount 28 February 2015  17 874 985 17 874 985

Fair value at acquisition 19 499 994 19 499 994

Accumulated depreciation 1 625 009 1 625 009

The remaining amortisation period of the new order mining right – Rooderand at 28 February 2015 was 26.75 years  
(2014: 27.75 years)

The remaining amortisation period of Rooderand related geological information acquired from DCM Chrome and Nkwe Platinum 
was 26.75 years at 28 February 2015 (2014: 27.75 years).

Directly held

Issued  
share  

capital  
R

Percentage 
holding 

%

 Shares  
at cost  

R

 Due by/(to)
 subsidiaries 

R

4. investment in subsiDiaries
28 February 2015

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd 900 74 – 74 302

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd 104 100 – 171 001

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd 1 000 76 – 177 000

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd 100 100 – (563 669)

(141 366)

28 February 2014

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd 100 86 – 74 302

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd 104 100 – 171 001

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd 1 000 76 – 749 455

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd 100 100 – (983 320)
11 438

The company’s voting power is in direct proportion to their percentage shareholding. The shares in subsidiaries were acquired at 
no cost.

The above mentioned investments are incorporated in South Africa. 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 28 february 2015
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ComPANy

Net investment in subsidiaries 
2015 

R
2014 

R

4. investment in subsiDiaries (continued)

Shares at cost – –

Loans to subsidiaries 422 301 994 758

Loans from subsidiaries (563 669) (983 320)

Less: impairment losses on amounts due from subsidiaries (422 301)  (994 758)

(563 669) (983 320)

With the exception of Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd, the loans to the subsidiary company have been subordinated in favour 
of the other creditors of the subsidiaries. Net loans to subsidiaries are interest free with no fixed terms of repayment. There is no 
material difference between the fair value and the book value of loans to and from subsidiaries due to their short term nature.

In 2010, the company entered into an agreement in terms of which Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd obtained the shareholder’s loan account in 
Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd for no consideration. The shareholder’s loan account has a face value of R8 379 168 and has 
been recognised in the consolidated financial statements at no cost. The fair value of the shareholder’s loan account is substantially 
the same as its historic cost. The shareholder’s loan account in Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd is interest free with no fixed 
terms of repayment. 

At 28 February 2014, the financial year end of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, the said loan from Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd 
amounted to R8 379 168 (2014: R8 379 168). As part of a Black Economic Empowerment (“BEE”) initiative, the group sold  
198 shares in Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, amounting to 19.8% of the issued share capital of Pilanesberg Mining 
Company (Pty) Ltd, to a BEE consortium during the financial year ended 29 February 2012 for a profit of R198. Additionally, the 
group sold 14 shares in Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd, amounting to 14% of the issued share capital of Rooderand Chrome (Pty) 
Ltd, to a BEE consortium during the financial year ended 28 February 2013 for no profit. 

During the 2015 financial year and as part of the second phase of the group’s BEE initiative, a black owned company, Onicastar 
Proprietary Limited, subscribed for 220 shares in Rooderand Chrome Proprietary Limited as part of an underwritten rights offer of 
900 shares. The existing BEE consortium did not take-up its rights in terms of the rights offer.

Equity and loan investments in subsidiaries have been fully impaired in prior periods due to losses in those entities exceeding the 
face value of amounts invested in subsidiary companies. The impairment was determined based on the fact that the recoverable 
amount of these investments was assessed at Rnil (2014: Rnil) at year end. The recoverable amount was calculated based  
on an estimate of the probable future cash flows that will flow from investments in subsidiaries, discounted at the company’s cost 
of capital.

GRouP ComPANy

2015 
R

2014 
R

2015 
R

2014 
R

5. environmental rehabilitation 
obliGation investments
Funds deposited in Guard Risk Insurance Company 
Limited (“Guardrisk’)

Balance at beginning of the year – – – –

Funds invested during the year 1 579 473 – 1 579 473 –

Investment income – – – –

Balance at end of the year 1 579 473 – 1 579 473 –

The group’s environmental rehabilitation obligation investment consist of contributions to investment funds held by Guard Risk; 
which are in turn used to provide guarantees to the Department of Mineral Resources in terms of rehabilitation and restoration 
commitments. The group earns investment income on funds deposited with Guard Risk at rates linked to short term money market 
yields. All investment income arising from this asset is re-invested in the Guard Risk fund.



56 Chrometco Integrated report 2015

GRouP ComPANy

2015 
R

2014 
R
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R

2014 
R

6. inventory

Chrome ore – 80 475 – –

– 80 475 – –

7. traDe anD other receivables

Trade receivables 1 039 299 446 196 1 038 928 923 585

1 039 299 446 196 1 038 928 923 585

There is no material difference between the fair value 
of trade and other receivables and their book value 
due to the short-term nature of the trade and other 
receivables.

8. cash anD cash equivalents

Current account 7 333 744 14 942 884 7 312 563 14 432 019

7 333 744 14 942 884 7 312 563 14 432 019

There is no material difference between the fair value and the book value of cash and cash equivalents due to the short-term 
nature thereof. Cash and cash equivalent balances amounting to R5 967 343 were encumbered in the 2014 financial year by a 
bank guarantee issued in favour of the Department of Mineral Resources on behalf of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd. The 
guarantee related to the contingent liability regarding the rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining. Refer to note 22 – Contingent 
Liabilities. In the 2015 financial year, the bank guarantee was cancelled in substitution for guarantees issued by the Guardrisk 
Insurance Company.

The group only deposits cash with major banks with high-quality credit ratings, the credit quality therefore is assessed as good.

GRouP ComPANy

2015
R

2014
R

2015
R

 2014
R

9. stateD capital anD share 
premium

Authorised
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value

(2014: 1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no  
par value ) 10 000 10 000 10 000 10 000 

Reconciliation of number of shares issued: 
204 928 683 (2014: 204 928 683) ordinary shares of  
no par value  2 049 2 049 2 049 2 049 

Issued
At the end of the year 204 928 683 ordinary no par  
value shares 54 187 246 54 187 246 54 187 246 54 187 246

The unissued shares are under the control of the directors until the next Annual General meeting.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 28 february 2015
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10. non-controllinG interests

 The groups non-controlling interest relates to the following subsidiaries:

Subsidiary
2015

R
2014

R

Pilanesburg Mining Company (Pty) Limited 32 201 323 33 411 636

Non Controlling interests arise on the consolidation of Pilanesburg Mining Company. Movements in this balance reflect minority 
share of losses in this subsidiary.

GRouP ComPANy

2015 
R

2014 
R
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R
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R

11. traDe anD other payables

VAT payable – 18 830 – –

Accruals 1 168 542 283 883 969 214 163 384

1 168 542 302 713 969 214 163 384

There is no material difference between the fair value and the 
book value of trade and other payables due to the short-term  
nature thereof.

12. environmental rehabilitation 
provision
Provision for rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining

Balance at beginning of year 10 000 10 000 – –

Increase in provision during year 2 901 792 – 2 901 792 –

Balance at end of year 2 911 792 10 000 2 901 792 –

Short term portion – old order mining license 10 000 10 000 – –

Long term portion – new order mining rights 2 901 792 – 2 901 792 –

 Provision for rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining

  Upon the acquisition of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd in 2011, the group assumed a provision for rehabilitation of land 
disturbed by mining at Rooderand amounting to R10 000 (2014: R10 000). 

  Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd is responsible for the rehabilitation of all land disturbed by mining at Rooderand. The 
settlement of the provision reflected above is expected to take place upon the future termination of mining activities at Rooderand 
and the accompanying rehabilitation cost of land disturbed by mining.

  During the year, Pilanesberg Mining Company Proprietary Limited assumed rehabilitation liabilities incurred by DCM Chrome 
Proprietary Limited. The present value of the expected rehabilitation liability at 28 February 2015 was R 2 901 792 (2014: R nil). 
The future value of the expected rehabilitation liability was measured at R75,510,296 with an expected growth rate of 6.10% and a 
discount rate of 13.60% It was assumed that the rehabilitation liability will be settled upon the end of life of mine of 28 years.
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13. revenue anD cost of sales

13.1 revenue

Sale of chrome ore 672 103 12 899 720 672 103 –

672 103 12 899 720 672 103 –

13.2 information about major customers

Sales of chrome to contract miner 672 103 10 931 351 672 103 –

672 103 10 931 351 672 103 –

The group realised more than 10% of its revenue from a 
single customer (International Ferro Metals) by way of sales 
transactions through Chrometco Limited during the  
2015 year.

During the 2014 year, the group realised more than 10% 
of its revenue from a single customer by way of sales 
transactions through Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd, 
a wholly owned subsidiary.

13.3 cost of sales

Mining and processing cost of chrome ore sold – 13 180 801 – –

– 13 180 801 – –

14.  other income

Bad debts recovered – DCM Chrome 1 102 320 – 1 102 320 –

Profit on sale of plant and equipment – 85 000 – 85 000

Sundry income – 219 – –

1 102 320 85 219 1 102 320 85 000

15. vat chanGe in measurement

VAT on Rooderand conditional sale proceeds – 6 017 544 – 6 017 544

– 6 017 544 – 6 017 544

The application of VAT to amounts received and accrued from DCM Chrome (Pty) Ltd resulted in the accrual for estimated VAT 
payable of R6 017 544 in 2013.  In 2014 pursuant to an extensive disclosure and consultation process with revenue authorities 
audited and assessed the amount as being exempt from VAT during the prior financial year.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 28 february 2015
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GRouP ComPANy

2015 
R

2014 
R
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R

2014 
R

16.  profit/(loss) before interest  
anD taxation
Operating profit is arrived at after taking into account:

Auditor’s remuneration 563 326 637 488 563 326 637 488

  Current year audit fee 563 326 637 488 563 326 637 488

  Fees for other services – – – –

Depreciation of plant and equipment 55 572 23 857 55 572 23 857

  Capitalised development cost 42 556 – 42 556 –

  Computer equipment 6 016 17 257 6 016 17 257

  Office equipment – 3 099 – 3 099

  Furniture and fittings 7 000 3 500 7 000 3 500

  Other assets – 1 – 1 

Employee costs 743 757 2 032 750 743 757 2 032 750

Impairment loss on loan to group companies – – – 6 000

For services as
 directors  Remuneration

Allowances and
 benefits Total

Group and company R R R R

17. Directors’ emoluments
28 February 2015

Executives

P J Cilliers – 600 000 – 600 000

T W Scott – 600 000 – 600 000

Subtotal – 1 200 000 – 1 200 000

Non-executives

J G Scott 24 000 – – 24 000

E Bramley 24 000 – – 24 000

I W S Collair 24 000 – – 24 000

R Rossiter 24 000 – – 24 000

Subtotal 96 000 – – 96 000

Total 96 000 1 200 000 – 1 296 000

28 February 2014

Executives

P J Cilliers – 785 906 76 300 862 206

T W Scott – 927 096 105 000 1 032 096

Subtotal – 1 713 002 181 300 1 894 302

Non-executives

J G Scott 12 000 – – 12 000

E Bramley 12 000 – – 12 000

C S Seabrooke 12 000 – – 12 000

I W S Collair 12 000 – – 12 000

R Rossiter 12 000 – – 12 000

Subtotal 60 000 – – 60 000

Total 60 000 1 713 002 181 300 1 954 302
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GRouP ComPANy

2015 
R

2014 
R
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R

2014 
R

18. investment income/finance costs

Interest received from financial institutions 535 849 816 536 528 700 799 369

Finance costs arising on the unwind of the rehabilitation 
provision. (156 692) – (156 692) –

19. taxation

South African normal tax:

Current tax 104 207 2 959 529 – 2 959 529

Deferred tax (4 656 979) 4 671 511 (5 814 499) 3 524 291

(4 552 772) 7 631 040 (5 814 499) 6 483 820

19.1 reconciliation of tax rate

South African normal tax rate 28.0 28.0 28.0 28.0

Adjusted for:

Non-deductible/taxable expenditure/income (0.04) 15.42 (0.07) 86.9

Prior year overprovision for deferred tax 0.01 24.01 0.02 135.27

Capital gains tax effect on amortisation of  
intangible assets (5.7) (7.29) (2.64) –

Prior year overprovision for current tax – 37.29 – 210.06

Deferred tax not recognised (51.23) (1.28) (97.73) –

Expenditure of a capital nature (4.84) – (9.17) –

Effective tax rate (33.80) 96.15 (81.59) 460.22

19.2 estimateD tax losses 

At beginning of year 20 772 071 8 464 617 20 766 070 8 185 317

Adjustment based on 2013 assessment 7 985 716 – 7 985 716 –

Incurred during the year 4 314 861 12 307 454 3 974 159 12 580 753

Utilised during the year (650) – – –

Available for set-off against future taxable income* 33 071 998 20 772 071 32 725 945 20 766 070

Attributable to ordinary shareholders 33 071 998 20 772 071 32 725 945 20 766 070

Unutilised tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised 33 071 998 9 764 960 32 725 945 –

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 28 february 2015
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GRouP ComPANy

2015 
R

2014 
R

2015 
R

2014 
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19.3 DeferreD tax assets anD liabilities

At beginning of year 5 816 180 2 291 889 5 816 180 2 291 889

Charge for the year – 3 524 291 – 3 524 291

Reversal of deferred tax assets recognised (5 816 180) – (5 816 180) –

At end of the year – 5 816 180 – 5 816 180

Comprising:

Deductable temporary differences on unutilised  
tax losses – 5 816 180 – 5 816 180

– 5 816 180 – 5 816 180

Deferred tax liability

At beginning of year (32 131 480) (33 278 700) – –

Charge for the year 1 167 820 1 147 220 – –

At end of the year (30 963 660) (32 131 480) – –

Comprising:

Temporary differences on intangible asset at capital  
gains tax rates (30 963 660) (32 131 480) – –

(30 963 660) (32 131 480) – –

20.  earninGs/(loss) per share

20.1 basic earninGs/(loss) per share

  The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share and diluted earnings/(loss) per share at 28 February 2015 is based on a loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of R16 811 771 (2014: profit of R904 427) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year ended 28 February 2015 of 204 928 683 (2014: 204 928 683), calculated as follows:

2015
R

2014
R

Loss for the year (18 022 084) (305 886)

Non-controlling interest’s share of losses (1 210 313) (1 210 313)

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (16 811 771) 904 427
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Number of shares issued
Weighted average  
number of shares

2015 2014 2015 2014

20. earninGs/(loss) per share continued

20.1 basic earninGs/(loss) per share 
(continued)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued shares at beginning of year 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683

Movement for the year – – – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at  
28 February 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683

Earnings/(loss) per share (cents) (8.20) 0.44

20.2 basic DiluteD earninGs per share 

  The calculation of basic diluted earnings/(loss) per share at 28 February 2015 is based on a loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of R16 811 771 (2014: profit of R904 427) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 
28 February 2015 of 274 928 683 (2014: 274 928 683), calculated as follows:

2015 2014
R R

Profit/(loss) for the year (18 022 084) (305 886)

Non-controlling interest’s share of (losses)/profits (1 210 313) (1 210 313)

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (16 811 771) 904 427

Number of shares issued
Weighted average  
number of shares

2015 2014 2015 2014

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued shares at beginning of year 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683

Movement for the year – – – –

Effective of dilutive shares (70 000 000 shares to be 
issued upon conclusion of Nkwe transaction) 70 000 000 70 000 000 70 000 000 70 000 000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at  
28 February 274 928 683 274 928 683 274 928 683 274 928 683

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) (6.11) 0.33

20.3 heaDline earninGs per share anD DiluteD heaDline earninGs per share 

  The calculation of headline earnings /(loss) per share at 28 February 2015 is based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of R16 811 711 (2014: loss of R819 427) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 
28 February 2015 of 204 928 683 (2014: 204 928 683), and diluted headline earnings per share is based on a weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding at that date of 274 928 683 (2014: 274 928 683) calculated as follows:

2015 2014
R R

Profit/(loss) for the year (16 811 771) 904 427

Adjustment for:

Profit on disposal of plant and equipment – (85 000)

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (16 811 771) 819 427

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 28 february 2015
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Number of shares issued
Weighted average  
number of shares

2015 2014 2015 2014

20.3 heaDline earninGs per share anD 
DiluteD heaDline earninGs per 
share (continued)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued shares at beginning of the year 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683

Movement for the year – – – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at  
28 February 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683

Headline profit/(loss) per share (cents) (8.20) 0.40

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued shares at beginning of year 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683 204 928 683

Movement for the year – – – –

Effective of dilutive shares (70 000 000 shares to be 
issued upon conclusion of Nkwe transaction) 70 000 000 70 000 000 70 000 000 70 000 000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at  
28 February 274 928 683 274 928 683 274 928 683 274 928 683

Diluted headline earnings/(loss) per share (cents) (6.11) 0.30

2015 2015 2014 2014

Headline earnings reconciliation Gross Net Gross Net

(Loss)/profit after taxation attributable to equity 
holders of the company (16 811 771) (16 811 771) 904 427 904 427

Disposal of plant and equipment – – (85 000) (85 000)

Headline earnings (16 811 771) (16 811 771) 819 427 819 427

Weighted average number of shares in issue 204 928 683 204 928 683

Diluted weighted average number of shares in issue 274 928 683 274 928 683

Headline earnings per share (cents) (8.20) 0.40

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) (6.11) 0.30

21. capital commitments

 No capital commitments existed at 28 February 2015 (2014: R nil).
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GRouP ComPANy

2015 2014 2015 2014
R R R R

22. continGent liabilities
22.1 Guarantees to subsiDiaries 8 923 695 8 923 695 8 923 695 8 923 695 

In terms of an agreement between Chrometco and Pilanesberg 
Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, Chrometco has agreed to provide 
financial support to Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd to 
the extent of R8 923 495 (2014: R8 923 495) until such time 
that the assets of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, 
fairly valued, exceed its liabilities. At the date of the financial 
statements, the solvency of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) 
Ltd had not yet been restored.

22.2 Guarantees to thirD parties – 5 967 343 – 5 967 343

On behalf of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, Chrometco guaranteed (in the form of a bank guarantee) the financial 
obligation to the Department of Mineral Resources to rehabilitate land disturbed by mining in accordance with the requirements of 
the Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Development Act. The total amount of the guarantee is R5 967 343 (2014: 
R5 967 343). The guarantee was withdrawn in the 2015 financial year.

23.   financial risk manaGement
 The main risks arising from the company’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

  This note presents information about the company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the company’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the company’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are 
included throughout the financial statements.

23.1  creDit risk

  Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, 
and arises principally from the company’s receivables arising from non-trade-related transactions as the company is currently still in 
the exploration phase of its business activities.

  The company transacts only with recognised creditworthy third parties. The company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the 
individual characteristics of each counter-party. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result 
that the company’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The credit risk currently only arises from non-trade-related financial 
assets. The exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter-party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount 
of these instruments.

23.2 liquiDity risk

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The company’s approach 
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under 
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the company’s reputation.

  The company monitors its risk to a shortage of funds by using cash flow forecasting tools. The cash flow forecasting tool determines 
cash requirements over the foreseeable future, as well as evaluating expected cash flows from operations.

  The company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, 
inter-company loans, trade payables and trade receivables.

23.3 market risk

  Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, and ore prices will affect the 
company’s income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return.

23.4   interest rate risk

 The company’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the company’s holdings of cash and cash equivalents.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 28 february 2015
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24.   capital manaGement

  The company’s capital consists of the share capital, share premium and retained earnings as presented in the statement of changes 
in equity.

  The primary objective of the company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital 
ratios (e.g.: return on capital) in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The company manages its capital 
using a gearing ratio (where applicable), which is debt divided by the total of capital and debt.

 There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

  There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed 
capital requirements from the previous year.

25.  financial instruments

  As trading activities are limited and have only recently commenced, this exposure is currently limited and consequently no formal 
measures are adopted to reduce the risks associated with the financial instruments below.. No security/collateral is in place for all 
classes of financial instruments presented below.

  It is envisaged that once the group’s activities reach a level where these risks become material, appropriate measures will be put in 
place to reduce these risks.

GRouP ComPANy

2015 2014 2015 2014
R R R R

25.1 loans anD receivables

Trade and other receivables 1 039 299 446 196 1 038 928 923 585

Cash and cash equivalents 7 333 744 14 942 884 7 312 563 14 432 019

Loans to subsidiaries – – – –

8 373 043 15 389 080 8 351 491 15 353 604

25.2 creDit risk

Exposure to credit risk:

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum 
exposure to credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date was:

Trade and other receivables 1 039 299 446 196 1 038 928 923 585

Cash and cash equivalents 7 333 744 14 942 884 7 312 563 14 432 019

Loans to subsidiaries – – – –

Total maximum exposure to credit risk 8 373 043 15 389 080 8 351 491 15 355 604

Concentration of credit risk by geographic location:

The maximum exposure of financial assets to credit risk by 
geographical region at reporting date is as follows:

Domestic 8 373 043 15 389 080 8 351 491 15 355 604

Total maximum exposure to credit risk 8 373 043 15 389 080 8 351 491 15 355 604

For all of the above classes of financial asset, no collateral is held as security and there are no credit enhancements in place. 



66 Chrometco Integrated report 2015

GRouP ComPANy

2015 2014 2015 2014
R R R R

25. financial instruments (continued)
25.2 creDit risk (continued)

Concentrations of credit risk by receivable category:

The maximum exposure of financial assets to credit risk by 
receivable type at reporting date is as follows:

Trade and other receivables 1 039 299 446 196 1 038 928 923 585

Cash and cash equivalents 7 333 744 14 942 884 7 312 563 14 432 019

Loans to subsidiaries – – – – 

Total maximum exposure of receivables to credit risk 8 373 043 15 389 080 8 351 491 15 355 604

The ageing of receivables at reporting date:

Receivables not past due:

Current 1 039 299 195 520 1 038 928 923 585

31 – 60 days – – – – 

61 – 90 days – – – – 

Total receivables not past due 1 039 299 195 520 1 038 928 923 585

Receivables past due:

91 – 120 days – – – – 

121 – 150 days – – – – 

Over 150 days – 250 676 – –

Total receivables past due – 250 676 – – 

  At year-end, management continued to fully provide for the impairment of all other long-term receivables with a carrying amount of 
R10 000 000 (2014: R10 000 000). 

  At company level, management has provided for the impairment of the long-term loan to the group companies with a total carrying 
amount of  R422 301 (2014: R994 758) Provisions for impairment of receivables are recognised when management assesses that 
there is a low probability of receiving the amounts due. Management has fully provided for all other receivables that are past their 
due date.

25.3  liquiDity risk

 There were no financial liabilities at reporting date.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 28 february 2015
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25.4   interest rate risk

 profile
 At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the group and the company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

GRouP ComPANy

2015 2014 2015 2014
R R R R

Variable rate instruments – carrying amounts

Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 7 333 744 14 942 884 7 312 563 14 432 019
Total variable rate financial assets 7 333 744 14 942 884 7 312 563 14 432 019

 cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate financial instruments
  A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts 

shown below. The sensitivity analysis was calculated by multiplying the year-end balances by the increase or decrease in the interest 
rate. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

GRouP ComPANy

Increase/ 2015 2014 2015 2014
Decrease R R R R

Cash and cash equivalents +100 73 337 149 429 73 126 144 320

Cash and cash equivalents -100 (73 337) (149 429) (73 126) (144 320)

26.  relateD parties

 Subsidiary companies/entities with common directors Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd
  Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd
  Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd
  Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd
  Mokwele Group

 During the year the company entered into the following transactions with the directors, shareholders and/or related entities.

Percentage
 interest held directly

 and indirectly, by 
Chrometco Limited

Repayment of 
expenses 

incurred on
 behalf of the

 company

Services 
provided to the 

company

Amounts owed 
by/(to) related 

parties

Subsidiary entities R R R

2015

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd 100% – – 171 001

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd 74% – – 74 302

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd 76% – – 749 455

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd 100% – – (983 320)

11 438

Common directors

28 February 2015

Mokwele Group – Consulting Services – – – –

29 February 2014

Mokwele Group – Consulting Services – 29 874 20 000 –
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26.  relateD parties (continued)

 Directors
  The directors named in the attached directors’ report held office as directors of the company during the periods ended  

28 February 2015.

Expenses
 recovered from

 related party
 not shown 
elsewhere

Services to 
related party

 not shown
 elsewhere

Amount owed 
by related party 

not shown 
elsewhere

Companies with common directors R R R

2015

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd – – 171 001

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd – – 74 302

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd – – 749 455

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd – – (983 320)

– – 11 438

2014

Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd – – 171 001

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd – – 74 302

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd – – 749 455

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd – – (983 320)

– – 11 438

  Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd has a shareholder loan amounting to R8 379 168. The group has recognised this loan at a 
historical cost of R nil.

Key management personnel compensation 
Short term

 benefits

Post 
employment 

benefits

Termination and 
other long term 

benefits Total

2015

P J Cilliers 600 000 – – 600 000

T W Scott 600 000 – – 600 000

1 200 000 – – 1 200 000

2014

P J Cilliers 862 206 – – 862 206

T W Scott 1 032 096 – – 1 032 096

1 894 302 – – 1 894 302

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 28 february 2015
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GRouP ComPANy

2015 2014 2015 2014
R R R R

27. notes to the cash flow statement
27.1 operatinG loss before workinG 

capital chanGes

Net profit/(loss) before taxation (13 469 312) (7 936 926) (7 126 313) (1 408 864)

Adjusted for:

–  Profit on sale of plant and equipment – (85 000) – (85 000)

–  Investment income (535 849) (816 536) (528 700) (799 037)

–  Depreciation on tangible assets 55 572 23 857 55 572 23 857

–  Amortisation of intangible asset 6 873 418 6 873 419 672 418 672 419

–  Finance costs 156 692 – 156 692 –

–  Other non-cash items (8 620) – 1 680 –

–  Movement in provisions 603 772 – 603 772 –

(6 324 327) (1 941 186) (6 164 879) (1 596 625)

27.2 workinG capital chanGes

Decrease in inventories 80 475 10 931 552 – –

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (593 103) 526 855 (115 243) 50 267

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 865 829 (15 244 100) 805 830 (15 323 871)

353 201 (3 785 693) 690 587 (15 273 604)

27.3 taxation

Amount due at beginning of period (523 857) 3 483 386 – 2 959 529

Current tax charge – – – –

Prior year overprovision 104 207 (2 959 529) – (2 959 529)

Interest on amounts due – – – –

Amount due at end of period – (523 857) – –

Tax paid (419 650) – – –

28. asset value per share

Net asset value per share 62.81 71.02

  The calculation of net asset value per ordinary share is based on a net asset value of R128 726 436 (2014: R145 538 206) and an 
issued number of shares of 204 928 683 (2014: 204 928 683). 

29.  seGmental reportinG

 Management has not presented segment reporting during the year under review as the group has only one operating segment.

30. subsequent events

 There were no material events subsequent to financial year-end. 
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Number of 
shareholders

Percentage of 
shareholders

Number of 
shares

Percentage of 
shares

Shareholder spread

1 – 1 000 shares 81 10.46% 48 407 0.02%

1 001 – 10 000 shares 308 39.79% 1 595 185 0.78%

10 001 – 99 999 shares 266 34.37% 9 482 067 4.63%

100 000 – 1 000 000 shares 100 12.92% 26 316 899 12.84%

1 000 000 shares and over 19 2.46% 167 486 125 81.73%

Total 774 100.00% 204 928 683 100.00%

Non-public shareholders

Directors 3 0.40% 38 452 732 18.76%

Shareholders interested in 10% or more 2 0.25% 80 103 987 39.08%

Public shareholders 769 99.35% 86 371 964 42.16%

Total 774 100.00% 204 928 683 100.00%

Shareholder Analysis 
at 28 february 2015
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Notice of Annual General meeting

chrometco limiteD

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2002/026265/06)
Share code: CMO ISIN: ZAE000070249
(“Chrometco” or “the company”)

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders of Chrometco will be held in the boardroom, at Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg on Wednesday 30th  September 2015 at 10:00 (“the Annual 
General Meeting”) to consider the business set out herein and if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the ordinary and 
special resolutions set out below.

Important dates:
Record date to receive the notice of Annual General Meeting is Monday, 21 August 2015.

Last date to trade to be eligible to vote is Friday, 25 September 2015.

Record date to be eligible to vote is Thursday, 17 September 2015.

Last date for lodging forms of proxy is Monday, 28 September 2015.

orDinary business

presentation of annual financial statements

The audited annual financial statements are available on the Company’s website, at www.chrometco.co.za, or may be obtained in 
person, at no charge, at the registered offices of the Company at, 71 Van Beek Avenue Glenanda Johannesburg, 2091, Gauteng, 
during office hours.

orDinary resolution number 1: re-appointment of auDitors

Resolved that Mazars Incorporated be and are hereby re-appointed as the independent auditors of the Company (the designated 
auditor being Mr B Bank) for the ensuing year, such auditors having been nominated by the Company’s Audit Committee.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 1 is that the Company, being a public listed company, must have its financial results audited 
and such auditor must be appointed or re-appointed each year at the Annual General Meeting of the Company as required by the 
South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”).

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 50% of the voting rights plus one vote to 
be cast in favour of the resolution.

orDinary resolution number 2: election anD re-election of Directors

In terms of the Company’s memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”), the following directors retire by rotation at the Annual General 
Meeting, but, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:
• Mr JG Scott;

• Mr E Bramley.

Accordingly, shareholders are requested to consider and, if deemed fit, to re-elect the directors named above by way of passing the 
separate ordinary resolutions set out below:

ordinary resolution number 2(a)
Re-election of JG Scott as director.

Resolved that JG Scott be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the Company.

ordinary resolution number 2(b)
Election of E Bramley as director.

Resolved that E Bramley be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the Company.

In terms of the Companies Act shareholders are required to ratify the appointment of Mr M Scott as Financial Director.

Accordingly, shareholders are requested to consider and, if deemed fit, to ratify the appointment of Mr M Scott  by way of passing the 
ordinary resolution set out below:

ordinary resolution number 2(c)
Appointment of Mr M Scott as director.

Resolve that M Scott be and is hereby elected as a director of the Company.



72 Chrometco Integrated report 2015

The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers 2(a) and 2(b) is that the MOI of the Company, the Listings Requirements of the JSE 
Limited (“JSE”) and, to the extent applicable, the Companies Act, require that a component of the non-executive directors rotate at 
every Annual General Meeting of the Company and, being eligible, may offer themselves for re-election as directors.

A brief curriculum vitae of each director is available on page 3 of this integrated annual report.

orDinary resolution number 3: re-appointment of auDit committee members

To re-appoint individually the following independent non-executive directors to the Audit Committee:

ordinary resolution number 3(a)
Re-appointment of J G Scott as a member of the Audit Committee.

ordinary resolution number 3(b)
Re-appointment of R Rossiter as chairperson of the Audit Committee.

ordinary resolution number 3(c)
Re-appointment of E Bramley as a member of the Audit Committee.

ordinary resolution number 3(d)
Re-appointment of I Collair as a member of the Audit Committee.

A brief curriculum vitae of each director is available on page 3 of this integrated annual report.

The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers 3(a) to 3(d) (inclusive) is that the Company, being a public listed company, must appoint 
an Audit Committee and the Companies Act requires that the members of such Audit Committee be appointed, or re-appointed, as 
the case may be, at each Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 50% of the voting rights plus one vote to 
be cast in favour of the resolution.

orDinary resolution number 4: General authority to issue shares for cash

Resolved that, subject to the provisions of the Company’s MOI, the Listing Requirements of the JSE (“the JSE Listings Requirements”) 
and the Companies Act, the mandate given to the directors of the Company in terms of a general authority to issue shares for cash, 
as and when suitable opportunities arise, be renewed subject to the following conditions:

1.  The general authority be valid until the Company’s next Annual General Meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond fifteen 
months from the date of the passing of this ordinary resolution (whichever period is shorter).

2.  The allotment and issue of the shares must be made to public shareholders, as defined in the JSE Listing Requirements, and not 
to related parties.

3.  The shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case, must be 
limited to such shares or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue.

4.  The number of shares issued for cash, in aggregate in any one financial year, shall not exceed 50% (fifty percent) of the Company’s 
issued ordinary share capital as at the date of this notice of Annual General Meeting, provided that any ordinary shares to be 
issued pursuant to a rights issue (announced, irrevocable and fully underwritten) or an acquisition issue shall not diminish the 
number of ordinary shares that comprise the 50% of ordinary shares that may be issued in terms of this ordinary resolution. As 
at the date of this notice of Annual General Meeting, 50% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital (net of treasury shares) 
amounts to 204,928,683 ordinary shares. 

5.  The maximum discount at which ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded price of 
those shares on the JSE over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the 
Company and the party subscribing for the securities or any other price agreed to by the JSE. The JSE will be consulted for a 
ruling if the shares have not traded in such 30 day period.

6.  After the Company has issued shares for cash which represent, on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% (five percent) or 
more of the number of shares in issue prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an announcement containing full details of the 
issue (including the number of shares issued, the average discount to the weighted average traded price of the shares over the  
30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed in writing between the issuer and the party 
subscribing for the shares and the effect of the issue on net asset value, net tangible asset value, earnings and headline earnings 
per share), or any other announcements that may be required in such regard in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE 
which may be applicable from time to time.

Notice of Annual General meeting continued
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For listed entities wishing to issue shares for cash (other than issues by way of rights offers, in consideration for acquisitions and/
or to share incentive schemes (which schemes have been duly approved by the JSE and by the shareholders of the company)), 
it is necessary for the board of the company to obtain the prior authority of the shareholders in accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements and the MOI of the company. Accordingly, the reason for ordinary resolution number 4 is to obtain a general authority 
from shareholders to issue shares for cash in compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements and the MOI of the Company. 

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, a 75% (seventy-five percent) majority of the votes cast by shareholders present or 
represented by proxy at the Annual General Meeting, must be cast in favour of ordinary resolution number 4 for it to be approved.

orDinary resolution number 5: remuneration philosophy

To approve, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, the remuneration philosophy of the Company, as set out on pages 26 and 27 of 
this integrated annual report.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 50% of the voting rights plus one vote to 
be cast in favour the resolution.

orDinary resolution number 6: authority to siGn all Documents requireD

Resolved that, subject to the passing of ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 5 and special resolutions numbers 1 to 4, any director of the 
Company or the company secretary be and is hereby authorised to sign all documents and perform all acts which may be required to 
give effect to such ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 5 and special resolutions numbers 1 to 4 passed at the Annual General Meeting; 
hereby ratifying and confirming all such things already done and documentation already signed.

In order for this ordinary resolution to be adopted, it must be supported by more than 50% of the votes cast by shareholders present 
or represented by proxy at this meeting. 

special business

special resolution number 1: General authority to repurchase shares

Resolved, in terms of the MOI of the Company (or one of its subsidiaries), the JSE Listings Requirements and sections 46 and 48 of 
the Companies Act, that the directors of the Company be authorised, by way of a general authority, until this authority lapses at the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company, provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing of 
this special resolution (whichever period is the shorter), to acquire the Company’s own shares, upon such terms and conditions and 
in such amounts as the directors may from time to time decide, subject to the following terms and conditions:

1.  Any repurchase of securities must be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done without any 
prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and the counter-party.

2. The repurchase is authorised by the Company’s MOI.

3. At any point in time, the Company may only appoint one agent to effect any repurchases on its behalf.

4.  The number of shares which may be repurchased pursuant to this authority in any financial year may not, in the aggregate, exceed 
20% (twenty percent) of the Company’s issued share capital.

5.  Repurchases of shares may not be made at a price greater than 10% (ten percent) above the weighted average of the market 
value of the securities for the 5 (five) business days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction was effected.

6.  Repurchases may not be undertaken by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during a prohibited period, as defined in the JSE 
Listings Requirements, unless a repurchase programme is in place where the dates and quantities of securities to be repurchased 
during the relevant period are fixed, which programme has been submitted to the JSE in writing and executed by an independent 
third party.

7.  After the Company has acquired shares which constitute, on a cumulative basis, 3% (three percent) of the initial number of 
shares in issue (at the time that the authority from shareholders for the repurchase is granted) of the relevant class of securities 
and for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired thereafter, the Company shall publish an 
announcement containing full details of such repurchase.

8.  The board of directors have passed a resolution authorising the repurchase and that the Company has passed the solvency and 
liquidity test contained in section 4 of the Companies Act, and that since the test was done, there have been no material changes 
to the financial position of the Company.

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 1 is to extend the general authority given to the directors of the Company or any 
subsidiary of the Company, in terms of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, for the acquisition by the Company or 
its subsidiaries of the Company’s securities which authority shall be used at the directors’ discretion during the course of the period 
authorised.
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In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors record that:

1.  They have no specific intention to repurchase shares, but would utilise the renewed general authority to repurchase securities to 
serve shareholders’ interests, as and when suitable opportunities present themselves, which opportunities may require expeditious 
and immediate action.

2.  The directors, after considering the effect of the maximum number of securities which may be repurchased pursuant to the 
general authority, are of the opinion that, for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of this notice of Annual General Meeting:

2.1  the Company and the Group will be able to pay their debts in the ordinary course of business;

2.2   the consolidated assets of the Company and of the Group will be in excess of the liabilities of the Company and the Group; the 
assets and liabilities being recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest audited Group 
annual financial statements;

2.3 the share capital and reserves of the Company and of the Group are adequate for ordinary business purposes; and

2.4 the working capital of the Company and the Group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes.

3.  The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 75% to be cast in favour of the 
resolution.

special resolution number 2: approval of Directors’ remuneration

Resolved that, in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, the Company be authorised to pay a maximum amount of remuneration 
to its non-executive directors for their services as directors as listed below:

Proposed fees  
for year ended  

28 February 2016

Fees paid for 
the year ended 

28 February 2015

Fees paid for 
the year ended 

29 February 2014

Board chairman R40 000 R24 000 R12 000

Board member R40 000 R24 000 R12 000

Audit Committee chairman R40 000 R24 000 R12 000

Audit Committee member R40 000 R24 000 R12 000

Remuneration Committee chairman R nil R nil R nil

Remuneration Committee member R nil R nil R nil

The reason and effect for special resolution number 2 is to obtain shareholder approval, by way of a special resolution, for non-
executive directors’ remuneration for their services as directors in compliance with the Companies Act.

It is noted that the remuneration payable to directors in their capacities as such does not include salaries and other benefits payable 
to directors in other capacities.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting 
rights to be cast in favour of the resolution.

special resolution number 3: inter-company financial assistance

Resolved, in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, that the board of the Company be and is hereby 
authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have 
the meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) that the board of the Company may deem fit to any company 
or corporation that is related or inter-related (“related” or “inter-related” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of 
the Companies Act) to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts that the board of the Company may determine, 
provided that the aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to grant the directors of the Company the authority, until the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company, to provide direct or indirect financial assistance to any company or corporation which is related or 
inter-related to the Company. This means that the Company is, inter alia, authorised to grant loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee 
the debt of its subsidiaries.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting 
rights to be cast in favour of the resolution.

Notice of Annual General meeting continued
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notifications
Shareholders are hereby notified in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act that the Board has passed the same resolution to 
take effect on the passing of special resolution number 3 by shareholders and that the Board is satisfied that the Company meets the 
solvency and liquidity test.

special resolution number 4: financial assistance for the subscription or purchase of 
shares in the company or in a relateD or inter-relateD company

Resolved, in terms of section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, that the board of the Company be and is 
hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein 
have the meaning attributed to it in sections 44(1) and 44(2) of the Companies Act) that the board of the Company may deem fit to 
any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company (“related” or “inter-related” will herein have the meaning 
attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act), on the terms and conditions and for amounts that the board of the Company may 
determine for the purpose of, or in connection with the subscription of any option, or any shares or other securities, issued or to be 
issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, or for the purchase of any shares or securities of the 
Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, provided that the aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date 
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 4 is to grant the directors the authority, until the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company, to provide financial assistance to any company or corporation which is related or inter-related to the Company for the 
purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription or purchase of options, shares or other securities in the Company or any related 
or inter-related company or corporation. This means that the Company is authorised, inter alia, to grant loans to its subsidiaries and 
to guarantee and furnish security for the debt of its subsidiaries where any such financial assistance is directly or indirectly related to 
a party subscribing for options, shares or securities in the Company or its subsidiaries. 

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this resolution to be adopted is 75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting 
rights to be cast in favour of the resolution.

The Company has no immediate plans to use this authority and is simply obtaining same in the interests of prudence and good 
corporate governance should the unforeseen need arise to use the authority. In terms of and pursuant to the provisions of sections 44 
and 45 of the Companies Act, the directors of the Company confirm that the board will satisfy itself, after considering all reasonably 
foreseeable financial circumstances of the Company, that immediately after providing any financial assistance as contemplated in 
special resolutions numbers 3 and 4 above:

•   the assets of the Company (fairly valued) will equal or exceed the liabilities of the Company (fairly valued) (taking into consideration 
the reasonably foreseeable contingent assets and liabilities of the Company);

•  the Company will be able to pay its debts as they become due in the ordinary course of business for a period of 12 months;
•  the terms under which any financial assistance is proposed to be provided, will be fair and reasonable to the Company; and
•  all relevant conditions and restrictions (if any) relating to the granting of financial assistance by the Company as contained in the 

Company’s MOI have been met.

Disclosures requireD in terms of paraGraph 11.26 of the jse listinGs 
requirements

The following additional information, some of which may appear elsewhere in this annual report, is provided in terms of the JSE 
Listings Requirements for purposes of special resolution number 1:

Major shareholders – page 36.

Company’s share capital – page 56.

Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors, whose names are given on page 3 of this annual report, collectively and individually, accept full responsibility  
for the accuracy of the information pertaining to special resolution number 1 and certify that, to the best of their knowledge  
and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading and that all reasonable 
enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that the aforementioned special resolution contains all the information required 
by the JSE.

material chanGe

Other than the facts and developments reported on in this annual report, there have been no material changes in the financial or 
trading position of the Company or its subsidiaries since the Company’s financial year-end and the signature date of this annual report.
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votinG anD proxies

A shareholder of the Company entitled to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or 
proxies to attend, speak and vote in his stead. The proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A form of proxy is attached for 
the convenience of any certificated shareholder and own name registered dematerialised shareholder who cannot attend the Annual 
General Meeting, but who wishes to be represented thereat.

Additional forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the Company’s registered offices, at 71 Van Beek Avenue, Glenanda, 
Johannesburg 2091, Gauteng. The completed forms of proxy must be deposited at, posted or faxed to the transfer secretaries at the 
address set out below, to be received by no later than 10:00 on Monday, 28 September 2015.

Any shareholder who completes and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person at the Annual 
General Meeting should the member subsequently decide to do so.

On a show of hands, every shareholder of the Company present in person or by proxy shall have 1 (one) vote only, irrespective of the 
number of shares he holds or represents, provided that a proxy shall, irrespective of the number of shareholders he represents have 
only 1 (one) vote. On a poll, every shareholder of the Company who is present in person or represented by proxy, shall have one vote 
for every share held in the Company by such shareholder.

Shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a CSDP or broker, other than own name registered dematerialised 
shareholders, and who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting must request their CSDP or broker to issue them with a Letter of 
Representation. Alternatively, dematerialised shareholders, other than own name registered dematerialised shareholders, who wish 
to be represented, must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement between them 
and their CSDP or broker in the manner and by time-frame stipulated.

Any shareholder of the Company may authorise any person to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting. Please also 
note that section 63(1) of the Companies Act requires that persons wishing to participate in the Annual General Meeting (including the 
aforementioned representative) must provide satisfactory identification before they may so participate.

Voting will be performed by way of a poll so that each shareholder present or represented by way of proxy will be entitled to vote the 
number of shares held or represented by him.

Equity securities held by a share trust or scheme will not have their votes at the Annual General Meeting taken into account for the 
purposes of resolutions proposed in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

Unlisted securities (if applicable) and shares held as treasury shares may not vote.

The last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the Annual General Meeting is Thursday, 17 September 2015.

The record date in order to vote at the Annual General Meeting is Friday, 25 September 2015.

By order of the board

P J Cilliers

Managing Director

Johannesburg

19 August 2015

Notice of Annual General meeting continued
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For use by the holders of the Company’s certificated ordinary shares (“certificated shareholder”) and/or dematerialised ordinary shareholders whose 
shares are held through a CSDP or broker and who have selected own name registration (“own name dematerialised shareholders”) at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company to be held at the offices of Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 at 10:00 on 
Wednesday, 30 September 2015 or at any adjournment thereof.

Not for the use by holders of the Company’s dematerialised ordinary shares who are not own name dematerialised shareholders. Such shareholders must 
contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting and request that they be issued with the necessary 
Letter of Representation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the Annual General 
Meeting in order for the CSDP or broker to vote thereat in accordance with their instructions.

I/We ______________________________________________________________________________________________________(please print full names)

of  __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________(address)

being the holder(s) of     ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint:

1.  or failing him/her, ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

2.  or failing him/her, ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

3.  the chairman of the annual general meeting,

 as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held for the purpose 
of considering and, if deemed fit, passing the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment thereof, and to 
vote for and/or against and/or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the Company registered in my/
our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:

 Please indicate with an ”X” the appropriate space below how you wish your votes to be cast unless otherwise instructed my/our proxy may vote 
as he/she thinks fit.

IN FAVouR AGAINST ABSTAIN

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To re-appoint Mazars Incorporated as the independent auditors of the Company  
(the designated auditor being Mr B Bank).

2. (a) To re-elect Mr JG Scott as a director

(b) To re-elect Mr E Bramley as a director

(c) To elect Mr M Scott as a director

3. (a) To re-appoint Mr JG Scott as a member of the Audit Committee

(b) To re-appoint Mr R Rossiter as chairman of the Audit Committee

(c) To re-appoint Mr E Bramley as a member of the Audit Committee

(d) To re-appoint Mr I Collair as a member of the Audit Committee

4. General authority to issue shares for cash

5. Remuneration philosophy

6. Authority to sign all documents required

SPECIAL BUSINESS

1. General authority to repurchase shares

2. Approval of directors’ remuneration

3. Inter-company financial assistance

4. Financial assistance for the subscription and/or purchase of shares in the Company or a  
related or inter-related company

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote in his stead.  
A proxy so appointed need not be a shareholder of the Company.

Signed at  ____________________________________________________________________________________on  __________________________ 2015

Signature ___________________________________________________________________________________________________

Assisted by   ________________________________________________________________________________________________(if applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse.

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2002/026265/06)
Share code: CMO ISIN: ZAE000070249
(Chrometco or the company)
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1.  This form of proxy is to be completed only by those shareholders who are:
 • holding shares in certificated form; or
 • recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their “own name”.

2.  A shareholder may insert the name or names of two alternative proxies of his choice in the space provided, with or without deleting 
“the chairman of the Annual General Meeting”. The person whose name appears first on this form of proxy and who is present at 
the Annual General Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. Any such proxy, who 
need not be a shareholder of the Company, is entitled to attend, speak and vote on behalf of such shareholder.

3.  A proxy is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote for each share held. A shareholder’s instructions to the 
proxy must be indicated in the appropriate space.

4.  If a shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that the proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain 
from voting or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution/s or any amendment/s which may be properly 
put before the Annual General Meeting be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he thinks fit. Forms of proxy must  
be lodged at, posted to or faxed to the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Ground  
Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) (fax number: +27 11 688 5238 or  
email: proxy@computershare.co.za) to reach the transfer secretaries by no later than 10:00 on Monday, 28 September 2015.

5.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be 
attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the Company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairman of the 
Annual General Meeting.

6.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy does not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General 
Meeting and speaking and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms of this form of proxy.

7.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialed by the signatory/ies.

8.  The chairman of the Annual General Meeting may accept or reject any form of proxy, which is completed and/or received, other 
than in accordance with these notes, provided that the chairman shall not accept a proxy unless the chairman is satisfied as to 
the manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

9.  Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares must inform their CSDP or broker of their intention to attend the Annual 
General Meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary Letter of Representation to attend the Annual 
General Meeting or provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the Annual General 
Meeting in person but wish to be represented thereat. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered into between the 
shareholder and his CSDP or broker.

10. Please note that, in terms of section 58(3) of the Companies Act:

  •  the appointment of a proxy is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly states otherwise. If the appointment of a 
proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent 
appointment of a proxy; and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the Company. The revocation 
will take effect on the later of: (i) the date stated in the revocation instrument or (ii) the date on which the revocation instrument 
was delivered to the proxy and the Company.

  •  a proxy may delegate his authority to act on your behalf to another person, subject to any restriction set out in this form of proxy.

  •  a proxy must be delivered to the Company, or to the transfer secretaries of the Company, namely Computershare Investor 
Services Proprietary Limited, before your proxy exercises any of your rights as a shareholder at the Annual General Meeting.

11. The last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the Annual General Meeting is Thursday, 17 September 2015.

12. The record date in order to vote at the Annual General Meeting is Friday, 25 September 2015.

Notice to Form of Proxy
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